
  

 

 

 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

Monday 5 December 2016 at 6.00 pm 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Tunbridge Wells, Kent TN1 1RS 

 
 

 

Borough Council Representatives:  Councillors Horwood (Chairman), Dawlings (Vice-
Chairman), Chapelard, Hamilton, Moore, Nuttall, 
Ms Palmer and Podbury 

Independent Members:  Mr Hedges, Mrs Hough, Mr Quigley and Mr Shiels 

Parish/Town Council Representatives: Councillors Coleman and Henshaw 

Quorum: 3 Members, to include at least one independent member 

 
 

1   Apologies for Absence   
Apologies for absence as reported at the meeting. 

2   Declarations of Interest   
To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on the agenda. 
 
For any advice on declarations of interest, please contact the Monitoring Officer. 

3   Notification of Visiting Members wishing to speak (in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 18):   
Members should indicate which item(s) they wish to speak on and the nature of their 
concern/question/request for clarification. 

4   Minutes of the Meeting  (Pages 1 - 10) 
The Chairman will move that the minutes of the previous meeting, dated 20 September 
2016, be signed as a correct record. The only issue relating to the minutes which can be 
discussed is their accuracy. 
 
In accordance with Council Meetings Procedure 16.1, the Chairman will sign the minutes of 
today’s proceedings at the next scheduled meeting. 

5   Report of Interim Head of Legal Partnership and Monitoring Officer   

(A)   Update on Complaints Received Under the Members' Code of Conduct (Pages 11 - 14) 

6   Report of Director of Finance and Corporate Services (s151 Officer)   

(A)   Strategic Risk Report (Pages 15 - 30) 
(B)   Annual Audit Report (Pages 31 - 48) 
(C)   External Audit Progress Report (Pages 49 - 72) 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 
 
 
 

(D)   Interim Internal Audit and Assurance Report (Pages 73 - 98) 

7   Future Work Programme  (Pages 99 - 100) 

8   Urgent Business   
The Democratic Services Officer will advise if there have been any urgent items of business 
which have arisen for the Board’s consideration since publication of the agenda. 

9   Date of Next Meeting -  Tuesday 4 April 2017 at 6pm   

 

 
 
Mike McGeary Town Hall 
Democratic Services Officer ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS 
mike.mcgeary@tunbridgewells.gov.uk Kent   TN1 1RS 
 Tel:  01892 554105 (direct line) 
 

 

mod.gov app – go paperless 
 

Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your 

mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free! 
 

Visit   www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp   for details.  

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp


 
 

 
 
 
 

All visitors wishing to attend a public meeting at the Town Hall between the hours of 9.00am and 
5.00pm should report to reception via the side entrance in Monson Way.  After 5pm, access will be via 
the front door on the corner of Crescent Road and Mount Pleasant Road, except for disabled access 
which will continue by use of an 'out of hours' button at the entrance in Monson Way. 
 
Notes on Procedure 
 
(1)  A list of background papers appears at the end of each report, where appropriate, pursuant to the 

Local Government Act 1972, section 100D(i). 
 
(2) Items marked * will be the subject of recommendations by the Committee to Full Council. 
 
(3) Members seeking factual information about agenda items are requested to contact the 

appropriate Service Manager prior to the meeting. 
 
(4) Members of the public and other stakeholders are required to register with the Democratic 

Services Officer if they wish to speak on an agenda item at a meeting.  Places are limited to a 
maximum of four speakers per item.  The deadline for registering to speak is 4.00 pm the last 
working day before the meeting.  Each speaker will be given a maximum of 3 minutes to address 
the Committee. 

 
(5) Please note that this meeting may be recorded or filmed by the Council for administrative 

purposes.  Any other third party may also record or film meetings, unless exempt or confidential 
information is being considered, but are requested as a courtesy to others to give notice of this to 
the Democratic Services Officer before the meeting. The Council is not liable for any third party 
recordings. 

 
Further details are available on the website (www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk) or from Democratic 
Services. 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 If you require this information in another format, 
please contact us on 01892 526121 

 

 Accessibility into and within the Town Hall - In response to the 
requirements of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995, the Council has 
provided the following features to overcome physical barriers to access.   

 There is a wheelchair accessible lift by the main staircase, giving access to the 
first floor where the committee rooms are situated.  There are a few steps 
leading to the Council Chamber itself but there is a platform chairlift in the foyer. 

 

 Hearing Loop System - The Council Chamber and all the Committee Rooms 
have been equipped with hearing induction loop systems.  The Council 
Chamber also has a fully equipped audio-visual system. 

 

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 
 

 
 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday 20 September 2016 
 

Present: Councillor Horwood (Chairman) 
Councillors Hamilton, Moore, Nuttall, Ms Palmer and Podbury, Independent Members 

Mrs Hough, Mr Quigley and Mr Shiels and Parish Councillor Coleman 
 

Officers in Attendance:   Stephen Baughen (Acting Head of Planning Services), William 
Benson (Chief Executive), Jane Clarke (Head of Policy and Governance), Rich Clarke (Head 
of Audit Partnership), Lee Colyer (Director of Finance and Corporate Services), John 
Scarborough (Head of Legal Partnership and Monitoring Officer), Ade Oyerinde (Grant 
Thornton) and Mike McGeary (Democratic Services Officer)  
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
AG25/16 
 

Apologies for absence were reported from Councillor Dawlings, Independent 
Member Mr Hedges and Parish Councillor Henshaw. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
AG26/16 
 

There were no declarations of interest made, within the provisions of the 
Code of Conduct for Members. 
 

NOTIFICATION OF VISITING MEMBERS WISHING TO SPEAK (IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 18) 
 
AG27/16 
 

There were no other members of the Council who had registered their wish to 
address the Committee, within the provisions of Council Meetings Procedure 
Rule 18. 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE DATED 
26 JULY 2016 
 
AG28/16 
 

The minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee dated 26 
July 2016 were submitted. 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Audit and Governance Committee 
dated 26 July 2016 be approved as a correct record. 
 

UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS RECEIVED UNDER THE MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
AG29/16 
 

John Scarborough, the Head of the Legal Partnership, presented an update 
report on complaints received under the authority’s Members’ Code of 
Conduct, for the period ending 2 September 2016. 
 
Mr Scarborough advised that, since the meeting of the Committee on 28 
June, one new complaint had been received. He said that, following the first 
stage of his investigations, he had determined that the allegations did not 
amount to a breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct, adding that no further 
action would be taken. 
 
In addition, Mr Scarborough said that there had been one outstanding 
complaint which he reported upon at the June meeting. Since then, he added, 
he had concluded at the initial assessment stage of his investigations that this 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



2 
 
 

 
 

also did not amount to a breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 
Finally, Mr Scarborough advised the Committee that he would be leaving his 
post as Head of the Legal Partnership and Monitoring Officer on 2 October, to 
take up a position at the London Borough of Greenwich. He added that 
Estelle Culligan, his Deputy within the Legal Partnership, had been appointed 
on a temporary basis as his replacement. 
 
RESOLVED – That the update on complaints received under the Members’ 
Code of Conduct be noted. 
 

PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION (PLANNING SCHEME OF 
DELEGATION) AS RECOMMENDED BY THE CONSTITUTION REVIEW WORKING 
PARTY 
 
AG30/16 
 

John Scarborough, the Head of the Legal Partnership, and Stephen 
Baughen, the Acting Head of Planning Services, jointly reported on proposed 
amendments to the Council’s Constitution, specifically two parts of the 
Planning Scheme of Delegation. 
 
Mr Scarborough explained that the proposed amendments set out in the 
agenda had been considered – and approved – by the Constitution Review 
Working Party at its meeting held on 11 August. He added that there had 
been other proposed amendments to the Planning Scheme of Delegation 
which had been considered by the Full Council in April 2016 which had been 
referred back to the Working Party for further examination. He advised that 
these could all be dealt with under the Monitoring Officer’s delegated powers 
as and when required, and would be reported back to the Working Party. It 
was noted that two other amendments had been proposed at the Full Council 
meeting in April 2016 by Councillor Stewart; Mr Scarborough advised that 
these had been discussed direct with her and would be presented to the 
Working Party at its next meeting. 
 
Stephen Baughen, the Acting Head of  Planning Services, provided the 
Committee with the background detail to the two proposed amendments set 
out in the agenda. With the first of these, Mr Baughen explained that the 
inclusion of the word ‘notifications’ as part of the councillor call-in rules 
presented significant risk that consent would be granted by default for these 
notifications. He added that this was because it was highly unlikely that a 
notification could be determined within the statutory time limit if called-in to a 
Planning Committee meeting. It was therefore proposed that it be removed 
from paragraphs 8.1 and 8.5 of Section 8 of Table 3 to Part 3 of the 
Constitution. 
 
With the second proposed amendment, Mr Baughen advised that its intention 
was to ensure that the most significant planning decisions for approval were 
consistently taken by members of the Planning Committee and not under 
delegated powers by the Head of Planning Services. This specifically related 
to the proposed threshold for non-residential development, which it was 
proposed should be lowered from 5,000m2 to 2,000m2. Mr Baughen said that 
this could be achieved by amending paragraph 8.3(b) of Section 8.1 of 
Section 8 of Table 3 to Part 3 of the Constitution.  
 
Independent member Mr Quigley, Chairman of the Constitution Review 
Working Party, said that these two proposed amendments had been 

Page 2

Agenda Item 4



3 
 
 

 
 

thoroughly discussed at his meeting and, with a minor addition to the 
explanatory wording in relation to the first of these, had been supported by 
the Working Party.  
 
Councillor Ms Palmer said that she was not supportive of the first proposal, 
on the basis that it was removing the ability of members to be able to call-in a 
notification. 
 
Other members of the Committee accepted the rationale and explanation 
provided by Mr Baughen and supported both recommendations. 
 
As this was the last meeting before Mr Scarborough left the authority, the 
Chairman thanked him for his support work, his professionalism and advice 
and for presenting the complaints process so clearly to members and the 
Committee, during his two years in post. 
 
RESOLVED – That, in order to ensure the Constitution is up-to-date and 
provides for good decision-making, the Full Council be recommended to 
approve the following: 
(a) ‘Notifications’ – amend paragraphs 8.1 and 8.5 of Section 8 of Table 3 to 

Part 3 of the Constitution, as set out in paragraphs 2.11 and 2.12 of the 
report; and 

(b) ‘Non-residential threshold’ – amend paragraph 8.3 of Section 8 of Table 
3 to Part 3, as set out in paragraph 2.15 of the report. 

 
ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL 
REVIEW 
 
AG31/16 
 

Jane Clarke, the Head of Policy and Governance, presented a report on: (a) 
formal complaints received by the Borough Council during 2015/16; (b) the 
decisions of the Local Government Ombudsman in respect of those 
complaints which had been escalated to that level during the year; and (c) 
amendments to the authority’s formal Complaints Policy. The first two 
elements were for the Committee to discuss and note; the revised Complaints 
Policy was submitted for the Committee’s endorsement. 
 
Ms Clarke began by saying that a total of 465 formal complaints had been 
made about Council services during 2015/16; she added that, at 83.5%, the 
authority had failed to meet its performance target to respond to 94% of 
complaints within the specified timescale. As a result of that performance 
outcome, Ms Clarke said that a review of complaints’ handling had been 
undertaken and it was proposed to reduce the number of stages to two under 
the Council’s Complaints Procedure. 
 
Ms Clarke also focused on some of the key trends within those services that 
were the subject of the largest number of complaints, namely from the 
Parking, Contracts and Planning Services as well as at the Assembly Hall 
Theatre. She added that, across the full range of complaints, some general 
lessons could be learnt, from which all services of the Council could benefit; 
these were set out in the report. 
 
In respect of those complaints which had been referred to the Local 
Government Ombudsman – 21 in total – it was noted that four had been the 
subject of an in-depth investigation, with two of those being upheld against 
the authority.   

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



4 
 
 

 
 

 
With the Council’s Complaints Procedure, members were advised that, 
following discussion at the Management Board of senior officers, it had been 
proposed that the number of formal stages be reduced from three to two, to 
help improve response times for complainants as well as cut down on the 
amount of officer duplication. A copy of the revised Complaints Procedure 
had been circulated with the agenda. 
 
Councillor Moore referred to the revised Complaints Procedure, specifically 
the response times set out for each stage (within 15 working days under 
stage 1 and 20 working days as part of stage 2). She felt that, even with 
reducing the stages from three to two, that was still a long period of time for 
the complainant to have to wait for a response. Ms Clarke advised that those 
particular time periods were not changing from the existing process, but 
stressed that, because of the reduction in the number of stages, the total 
amount of time to resolve a complaint – should it have taken all three stages 
in the past – would be shorter. 
 
Parish Councillor Coleman asked where in the statistics complaints about the 
Fiveways public realm scheme appeared. Ms Clarke advised that it depended 
upon the exact nature of the complaint, adding that the Head of Environment 
and Street Scene was the lead officer for this project. 
 
Councillor Coleman felt that, in a case such as the public realm scheme 
therefore, because complaints might fall within other operational areas, there 
might be a lack of transparency over the level of dissatisfaction with a 
particular project. The Chairman advised that, with a scheme such as the 
public realm improvements, it should be remembered that some of the 
complaints might relate to services for which the Borough Council was not the 
lead agency. 
 
Ms Clarke provided some further general context: she said that all services 
were actively encouraged to deal with expressions of dissatisfaction as 
quickly as possible and this was set out in the Complaints Policy. She added 
that, if this process failed to provide a satisfactory outcome, then the formal 
complaints procedure was followed. 
 
Councillor Podbury asked if the complaints referred to in the report in respect 
of the Assembly Hall Theatre were all historic. Ms Clarke advised that the 
report related to complaints received during 2015/16, and added that it was 
probable that the Assembly Hall continued to receive some complaints, 
although it was anticipated that the recent investment in much-improved 
facilities would lead to a noticeable reduction in the complaints. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
(1) That the customer feedback received during 2015/16 and the lessons 

learned as a result of this feedback be noted;  
 
(2) That the Annual Review letter published by the Local Government 

Ombudsman be noted; and 
 
(3) That the revised Complaints Procedure, as set out in Appendix B to the 

report, be endorsed. 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4



5 
 
 

 
 

STRATEGIC RISK REPORT 
 
AG32/16 
 

Lee Colyer, the Director of Finance and Corporate Services, presented a risk 
management report, which described the authority’s arrangements for 
managing strategic risk. The report provided an update on the evaluated 
threat level as well as the controls in place for each of the 10 risks identified. 
Mr Colyer added that the Chief Executive, William Benson, had been invited 
to the meeting, to report on the risks where he was the named ‘officer risk 
owner’, namely risks 3, 5, 7 and 9. 
 
Risk 3 – resident engagement   
 
Mr Benson advised that, in the recent past, this work had been focused on 
initiatives such as ward walks and an annual residents’ survey. He said that, 
to a large extent, this had been replaced with more active engagement and 
dialogue with a wide range of interest groups, such as Tunbridge Wells 
Together, the Town Forum, parish and town councils etc, as well as far 
greater use of social media. 
 
The Chairman sought clarification on the extent of consultation undertaken 
with the authority’s budget proposals each year. Mr Benson said that the 
Council went well beyond the minimum requirements in consulting on its 
spending plans each year, with active engagement with key groups, as well 
as proposals being provided on the website consultation portal. 
 
Councillor Moore referred to the ‘current controls/mitigations in place’ under 
this risk, specifically the updating of the Five Year Plan. She asked whether, 
within that context, the Council planned to produce only a digital version of 
the Local magazine. Mr Benson advised that this proposal was being 
examined. He added that Tunbridge Wells, along with Maidstone and Swale 
Borough Councils, had recently purchased the required software to be able to 
digitise this magazine as the three authorities were keen to encourage 
residents towards this platform. He added that members would be consulted 
on this further. 
 
Councillor Podbury asked whether parish and town councils could be 
encouraged to lead on future ward walk surveys. She added that it was 
important for the authority always to keep in mind that there were still 
significant numbers of residents who could not access information about 
Council services on-line. On the first issue, Mr Benson said he would be 
happy to provide relevant material for parish and town councils to undertake 
ward walks, if they wished, adding that it might be possible for Borough 
Council staff to assist. On digital access to services, Mr Benson stressed the 
cost advantages to the Council of greater numbers of residents using on-line 
facilities but he acknowledged the need to recognise that not all residents had 
this choice. 
 
Councillor Hamilton endorsed the proposal that parish and town councils be 
given the opportunity to continue the ward walks initiative and expressed the 
hope that this idea be progressed. Mr Benson responded by saying that the 
Borough Council would support those local councils wishing to carry out their 
own local ward walks. 
 
Councillor Coleman said that there was a good working relationship between 
the Borough and his Parish Council. He added that, if the ward walk initiative 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



6 
 
 

 
 

found favour in Pembury, he would welcome some basic documentation to 
underpin the process. 
 
Risk 5 – National policy changes in short term that impact negatively on 
TWBC and direction 
 
Mr Benson said that this was a risk area where local government faced a high 
degree of vulnerability, in areas such as business rate retention, devolution 
etc, where the impact of national policy change was significant. 
 
Mr Benson said that, while Tunbridge Wells might benefit from the 
Government’s plans to incentivise growth through the retention of business 
rates, not all councils would find this policy so attractive as authorities fell into 
two camps: those who collected more business rates than they spent and 
those who collected less then they spent. He added that a system of ‘top ups 
and tariffs’ had been introduced to address this. 
 
He then highlighted the mitigation actions that had been put in place, such as: 
(i) partnership working (e.g. with welfare reform); (ii) continuing discussions 
with KCC and neighbouring councils to consider opportunities for aligning or 
devolving services; (iii) active engagement with representative bodies such as 
CIPFA, SOLACE (Society for Local Authority Chief Executives) etc; and (iv) 
maintaining a close watch on the implications of Brexit. 
 
Councillor Moore expressed concern at the lack of any geographical 
consistency in the Council’s current partnership working, e.g. Mid-Kent 
Improvement Partnership (MKIP), the West Kent discussions re. devolution 
etc. She wondered whether this might be considered a risk scenario in its 
own right. 
 
Mr Benson acknowledged the argument that the current geography of 
partnership in local services was mixed, although he said that certain 
elements of mitigation were covered within risk scenario 9 below. He said that 
MKIP had been brought about by a ‘coalition of the willing’ at that stage; he 
added that there seemed to be no prospect of re-drawing the boundaries of 
the many public agencies (Police, NHS etc) amongst local service providers. 
 
Risk 7 – Being unable to meet expectations within resources 
 
Mr Benson said that the focus of this risk scenario was a balancing act 
between realising the Council’s growing ambitions at a time when staff 
numbers and resources were declining against the demands of an articulate 
population. He emphasised the many mitigations which were in place, 
including: (i) a more focused set of priorities; (ii) the proper resourcing of the 
more important elements of the Council’s ambitions, e.g. its Development 
Programme; (iii) greater performance monitoring; (iv) the adoption of more of 
an ‘enabling’ approach for community-based initiatives, e.g. the proposed 
play area in Calverley Grounds. 
 
Mr Quigley acknowledged that, with staffing numbers being so taut, there was 
a careful balancing act taking place to deal with expected levels of work; he 
asked what mitigations were being put in place with ‘the unexpected’. Mr 
Benson said that each service was continuously examining its own resilience 
level. He added that the significant amount of partnership working in place, 
principally through MKIP, was delivering the planned-for benefits. He 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



7 
 
 

 
 

accepted that there was the occasional down-side to that arrangement: for 
instance, the majority of MKIP service staff were now employed by Maidstone 
Borough Council, and should an emergency event occur, such as flooding, to 
which that district was more vulnerable, there was a concentration of staff 
resources which adversely impacted on the resilience of other services. 
 
Mr Benson added that the degree of confidence in addressing this risk 
scenario was very much dependent upon the magnitude of the event, adding 
that a factor which was in the authority’s favour was the high degree of staff 
commitment. 
 
In terms of ‘meeting expectations’, Councillor Coleman acknowledged that 
the Borough Council generally provided a good service, but he felt that with 
KCC the same could not be said. He asked how expectations were managed 
within that context. 
 
Mr Benson acknowledged the point, adding that there was still much 
confusion amongst residents as to which tier of local government provided 
specific services, citing tackling childhood obesity as a prime example. 
 
Councillor Moore supported the policy of the authority reducing the number of 
priorities but doing them well. Within that context, Councillor Moore raised the 
following issues: (i) with staffing numbers having reduced, she asked whether 
the corresponding costs had genuinely fallen; (ii) in terms of its ‘enabling’ role, 
she sought reassurance that the Council was not reducing services in the 
‘wrong areas’, e.g. by no longer giving priority to the removal of graffiti, was 
the corresponding negative impact on some parts of the town being ignored. 
 
Mr Benson stressed the financial position which the authority faced, saying 
that the Council operated a very large range of services but had the lowest 
‘spending power’ in the county. He also gave the example of the Planning 
Service which the authority was required by statute to provide, yet because 
the level of fees was set by central government and not locally determined, 
the service was subsidised by approximately £1.4m per annum. He added 
that there was a constant process of re-prioritising services, with the financial 
position being reported every quarter to the Cabinet in reports which were 
fully accessible to all members and the public. 
 
Mr Benson advised that the complaints report considered by members earlier 
in the agenda helped to demonstrate the success of the Council’s ‘enabling’ 
role. 
 
Risk 9 – Not managing control and change effectively – staff, management 
and political 
 
Mr Benson advised that this risk scenario was principally about dealing with 
the limitations of control over some aspects of services operated though 
MKIP. He focused on the mitigations in place, such as the Mid-Kent Services 
Board and the constant monitoring of performance data. 
 
Mr Colyer, the Director of Finance and Corporate Services, advised on two 
aspects of this risk scenario: (i) he said that the staff numbers within the MKIP 
service areas were continuing to reduce; and (ii) he also reported that, 
currently, the only consultants being employed were those within the Property 
Service, where the need for specialist expertise had been clearly 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



8 
 
 

 
 

demonstrated. 
 
In concluding the discussion, the Chairman thanked Mr Benson for his 
attendance and asked whether another risk owner was due to attend the 
December meeting. Mr Colyer advised that David Candlin, the Head of 
Economic Development, would be attending the 5 December Committee 
meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the risk management report and arrangements for 
managing strategic risks be noted. 
 

EXTERNAL AUDITOR PROCUREMENT 
 
AG33/16 
 

Further to minute AG22/16, Rich Clarke, the Head of the Audit Partnership, 
provided an update on the specific points raised by members at the last 
Committee meeting regarding the alternative options for appointing a new 
external auditor. His report provided additional information on the following 
issues previously raised: 
 
The likely costs of an individual procurement 
 
Mr Clarke advised that there would be limited cash costs to the Council 
undertaking the procurement process alone. However, he added that it was 
likely that there would be somewhere between 10 and 15 days of officer time 
required in carrying out the various procurement processes. 
 
Attitude of neighbouring and other authorities towards the procurement routes 
 
Mr Clarke advised that there was strong evidence to show that the significant 
majority of local authorities who had already expressed their procurement 
preference would be opting for the ‘sector-led body’ route. He added that he 
had found no evidence of a local authority opting for the creation of an auditor 
panel as their preferred procurement method. 
 
Experience of the NHS in auditor selection 
 
Mr Clarke said that his research into the experience of the NHS – specifically 
hospital foundation trusts – showed that they had benefited from a sharp fall 
in audit fees at the earlier time when they had been able to seek audit 
approval from a newly-created regulator – Monitor – to work with less 
oversight from central NHS control. However, in more recent times, Mr Clarke 
said that his research had shown that there had been very little change in the 
fees that the trusts were required to pay for their statutory audit.  
 
Mr Clarke added that his conclusions were that it is not the external audit 
process which will impact on the fees that local government will be required to 
pay but the scope of the audit required. 
 
Mr Clarke advised that evidence he had gained to date showed that there 
was clear support for handing the appointment decision and contract 
management over to an ‘appointed person’ (i.e. the ‘sector-led body’ option). 
He added that the only ‘appointed person’ to have come forward to date was 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA), although details of their 
offer were not yet known. 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



9 
 
 

 
 

Mr Quigley asked to what extent did the current external audit arrangement 
help with scale, adding that he hoped to see an analysis of cost benefit. Mr 
Clarke said that acting on its own, the Borough Council had no historical data 
from which to draw any firm conclusions. He did however say that the existing 
fee level was likely to have a strong influence on the level of fee which the 
authority would face. 
 
Mr Quigley also asked for confirmation of the length of any agreement 
entered into with a sector-led body. Mr Clarke advised that PSAA were likely 
to ask for a three to five year contract period, with the industry norm probably 
set at three years. He added that the eight-week opt-in opportunity was at first 
felt to be a one-off position, but subsequent information gained indicated that 
this might not be the case. 
 
Mr Colyer, the Director of Finance and Corporate Services, said that this was 
the second update report which the Committee had received. He said that, at 
the most recent Kent Finance Officers’ group meeting, all authorities across 
the county indicated that they expected to follow the sector-led body option. 
He added that, if Tunbridge Wells Borough Council decided to appoint 
another external auditor, there was a considerable amount of disruption, staff 
time and cost  that was likely to follow. He said that, based on the evidence 
gathered to date, he was firmly of the opinion that the Committee should 
recommend the sector-led body route as the more safe and cost-effective 
option. 
 
Councillor Coleman said that all parish and town councils had been required 
to follow a similar process, which would take effect from 1 April 2017. He 
added that, in Kent, he knew of just one parish council which had decided to 
follow the ‘solo’ procurement route. 
 
Mrs Hough said that she supported the sector-led body option, although she 
felt that, to some extent, it might be seen as a return to the Audit Commission 
structure. Mr Colyer responded by saying that, at this juncture, there 
appeared to be only a few contracts available, sufficient to improve 
competitiveness. He felt the authority would be best-advised to follow this 
route, at least for the initial three year period. 
 
Mr Shiels was also supportive of the sector-led body option. However, he 
warned that, with the shared services that the Borough Council operated, it 
was vital to ensure there was no duplication and that each function was only 
audited once. 
 
Councillor Hamilton enquired if the current devolution discussions might have 
an impact on the procurement plans. Mr Colyer said that the authority could 
only focus on the existing structure of services. 
 
The Chairman asked Mr Oyerinde from Grant Thornton, the authority’s 
current external auditors, for his views on the current position. Mr Oyerinde 
said that he had been impressed with the level of debate which the 
Committee had had over the two meetings, which he described as the ‘most 
informed’ he had witnessed. 
 
In summing up the discussion, the Chairman asked the Committee to 
consider a second recommendation, namely that it supported the option of a 
sector-led body appointment and that the Full Council be recommended to 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



10 
 
 

 
 

follow this route. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
(1) That the Committee notes the latest and further information on the 

external auditor appointment; and 
 
(2) That the Committee recommend to the Full Council that, based upon the 

evidence to date, the sector-led body option appears to be the most cost-
effective route and should therefore be followed by this authority. 

 
FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME 
 
AG34/16 
 

The Committee’s work programme was presented for members’ information.     
 
Lee Colyer, the Director of Finance and Corporate Services, said that, with 
the decision taken on the external auditor appointment (minute AG33/16 
above), this item could be removed from the list of agenda items for the 5 
December meeting.   
 
RESOLVED – That, with the above amendment, the work programme be 
noted. 
 

URGENT BUSINESS 
 
AG35/16 
 

The Democratic Services Officer advised that there were no additional items 
for the Committee’s consideration which had arisen since the publication of 
the agenda. 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
AG36/16 
 

It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would take place on 
Monday 5 December 2016 at 6pm. 
 

 
 NOTE: The meeting concluded at 7.20 pm. 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



 

Audit & Governance 
Committee  

5 December 2016 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Update on complaints received under the 
Members’ Code of Conduct   

 

Final Decision-Maker Audit & Governance Committee 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Leader of the Council, Councillor Jukes 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer, Director of Finance & Corporate 
Services 

Head of Service Estelle Culligan, Interim Head of Legal Partnership 
and Monitoring Officer 

Lead Officer/Report Author Keith Trowell, Senior Lawyer and Deputy 
Monitoring Officer 

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 

1. That Members note the update on complaints received under the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 

 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

 A Prosperous Borough 

 A Green Borough 

 A Confident Borough 

 

The report supports the Council’s commitment to probity in all our affairs as well as the 
values of openness and responsibility. 

  

Timetable 

Meeting Date 

Audit & Governance Committee 05 December 2016 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5(A)



 

Update on complaints received under the 
Members’ Code of Conduct   

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on complaints received under the Members’ 

Code of Conduct in the period ending on 11 November 2016. 
 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
2.1 The current Members’ Code of Conduct (“the Kent Code”) for Tunbridge Wells 

Borough Council was adopted by the Borough Council on 18 July 2012. It was a 
requirement under the Localism Act 2011 that all councils adopt a Code of 
Conduct and that the Code adopted must be based upon the Nolan Principles 
of Conduct in Public Life.  

 

2.2 At the same Full Council meeting the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council also 
adopted arrangements for dealing with complaints (“the Kent Procedures”) 
made under the Code of Conduct in the Tunbridge Wells area. The current 
version of the Kent Procedures can be found on the Council’s website.  

 
2.3 The same Localism Act 2011 requirement to adopt a Code of Conduct also 

applied to all the parish and town councils in the Tunbridge Wells area. 
Therefore, at around the same time, i.e. July 2012, all the parish and town 
councils in the Tunbridge Wells area also adopted a Code of Conduct. 

 
2.4 All the parish and town councils in the Tunbridge Wells area adopted the same 

‘Kent Code’ (apart from Paddock Wood Town Council) which had been agreed 
across Kent and was indeed adopted by the County Council, most of the district 
councils and most of the parish and town councils in Kent. Paddock Wood 
Town Council adopted the NALC (National Association of Local Councils) Code 
of Conduct. 

 
2.5 Under the Localism Act 2011 Tunbridge Wells Borough Council is responsible 

for dealing with any complaints made under the Members’ Codes of Conduct 
throughout the Tunbridge Wells area. Thus the Borough Council is responsible 
for dealing with any complaints affecting members of, not only the Borough 
Council, but also all the parish and town councils in the Tunbridge Wells 
Borough.  

 
2.6 The arrangements for dealing with complaints (“the Kent Procedures”) that were 

adopted by the Borough Council therefore also apply in cases concerning 
parish and town councils. 

 
2.7 The Borough Council have resolved that oversight of the Kent Procedures falls 

under the Audit and Governance Committee. 
 

Page 12

Agenda Item 5(A)



 

3. UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS RECEIVED  
 
3.1 The Monitoring Officer provides an update to the Audit and Governance 

Committee upon complaints received at each meeting. The update is set out so 
that the names of the complainant and the member complained about are both 
kept confidential. The reason for this is that the Localism Act 2011 repealed the 
previous statutory process for dealing with complaints whereby decisions 
including names would be published. In the absence of that statutory process, 
complaints must be dealt with in accordance with the Data Protection Act which 
means such data must be kept confidential. 

 
3.2 Since the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee on 20 September 

2016, one new complaint has been received. The Monitoring Officer is presently 
seeking from the complainant further information in order to clarify the 
allegations made.  

 
3.3    There was one outstanding complaint at the last meeting. Following 

consultation with the Council’s ‘Independent Person’, the Monitoring Officer 
concluded at initial assessment stage that the allegations did not amount to a 
breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 
 

 
4 PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

4.1 That Members note the update on complaints received under the Members’ 
Code of Conduct. 

 

 
5 CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 This report does not require further consultation as it is for information only. 
 

 
6 NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
6.1 The Committee’s decision will be published in the minutes of this meeting on 

the Council’s website in due course. 
 

 
 
 
7      CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications 

Legal including 
Human Rights 
Act 

It is a requirement under the Localism Act 2011 that all 
councils adopt a Code of Conduct and that the Code adopted 
must be based upon the Nolan Principles of Conduct in Public 
Life. The Members’ Code of Conduct was adopted by Full 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5(A)



 

Council on 18 July 2012 and can be found on the Council’s 
website. 

Finance and 
other resources 

If a complaint proceeds to investigation then it can be carried 
out by an external person. If this is the case, there will be a fee 
for whichever external person carries out the work. 

Staffing 
establishment 

No issues. 

Risk 
management   

An effective complaints system is part of an effective system of 
governance. 

  

Environment  
and sustainability 

There are no relevant issues identified within this report. 
 

Community 
safety 

 

There are no relevant issues identified within this report. 

Health and 
Safety 

There are no relevant issues identified within this report. 
 

Health and 
wellbeing 

There are no relevant issues identified within this report. 
 

Equalities The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote 
or low relevance to the substance of the Equality Act. There is 
no apparent equality impact on end users. 

 
8      REPORT APPENDICES 
 

None 
 

 
9    BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
None 

Page 14

Agenda Item 5(A)



 

Audit & Governance 
Committee 

5 December 2016 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Strategic Risk Report 
 

Final Decision-Maker Audit & Governance Committee 

Portfolio Holder(s)  All 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer – Director of Finance & Corporate 
Services (s151 Officer) 

Head of Service Jane Clarke – Head of Policy & Governance 

Lead Officer/Report Author Lee Colyer – Director of Finance & Corporate 
Services (s151 Officer) 

Classification Non-Exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker: 
 

1. That the Committee notes the risk management report and arrangements for 
managing strategic risk. 

 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

 A Prosperous Borough 

 A Green Borough 

 A Confident Borough 

 

This report is concerned with the internal control and governance of the Council.  Successful 
controls and effective governance are a crucial underpinning for all corporate priorities. 

  

Timetable  

Meeting Date 

Management Board 23 November 2016 

Audit & Governance Committee 5 December 2016 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6(A)



 

Strategic Risk Update 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The report sets out the strategic risks identified by the Council and currently 

being managed and tracked by senior management.  The report provides a 
current update on the evaluated threat level and controls in place for each risk 
issue. 

 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The risks included in the report were initially developed in a risk management 

workshop facilitated by Zurich Management Services on 10 December 2013, 
with the risks being formally adopted by Cabinet on 16 May 2014.  Since that 
time, risk owners have kept the risks and controls under review with periodic 
reporting both to the Cabinet and the Audit & Governance Committee.   
 

2.2 The Council’s Management Board have also completed periodic overall reviews 
of the risks identified including adding new risks as circumstances develop (the 
most recent addition being Risk Scenario 10 – Development Programme – 
added in October 2014). 

 

2.3 Risk owners (managers) for certain risks are invited to attend the Audit and 
Governance Committee meetings to outline the Council’s approach to 
managing their particular risk(s). For this Committee meeting, members will be 
able to examine the risk(s) owned by David Candlin, Head of Economic 
Development, namely; 

 

 Risk 2 Being unable to maximise economic opportunities and resolve 
infrastructure issues; and 

 Risk 10 Development Programme. 
 

 
3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 There is no legal requirement on the authority formally to monitor its risks, still 

less is there a defined framework to do so.  Although failing to monitor and 
record risks will leave the Council vulnerable to external criticism – for example 
by its external auditors who are required to assess the effectiveness of risk 
management when considering their annual Value For Money conclusion – the 
Council could decide that is a price worth paying against using some of its 
resources to identify and monitor risk. 
 

3.2 Even accepting the utility in gathering systematic monitoring information on the 
risks it faces, there is a wide range of different approaches the Council might 
adopt.  Even if one looks solely at the local government sector, there are myriad 

Page 16

Agenda Item 6(A)



 

formats, structures and arrangements adopted to record and present 
information to senior officers and members. 

 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The report sets out the risks using the methodology and format previously 

agreed by the Council, which is essentially the method advocated by Zurich 
from the 2013 risk workshop. 

 

 

5. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 The Strategic Risk Register has undergone periodic review and examination by 

the Management Board, the Cabinet and the Audit & Governance Committee.  
This stands in addition to ongoing monitoring by the identified risk owners.  This 
report incorporates feedback and updates from all sources. 

 
 

 
6. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

(name of officer 
and date) 

Legal including 
Human Rights Act 

None identified at this stage. Lee Colyer, 
Director of 
Finance and 
Corporate 
Services 

 

Finance and other 
resources 

None identified at this stage. 

Staffing 
establishment 

None identified at this stage. 

Risk management   Risk management is the subject of the report but 
it does not of itself raise new risk issues for 
consideration. 

Environment  
and sustainability 

None identified at this stage. 

Community safety None identified at this stage. 

Health and Safety None identified at this stage. 

Health and 
wellbeing 

None identified at this stage. 

Equalities None identified at this stage. 

 
  

Page 17

Agenda Item 6(A)



 

 
7. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report: 

 Appendix A: Strategic Risk Register Update December 2016 
 

 
8. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
None 

Page 18

Agenda Item 6(A)



Strategic Risk Update December 2016 
 

The Strategic Risk Profile chart below shows each risk scored onto the risk matrix graph. The 
further towards the top right hand corner the greater the risk to the Council. This is a dynamic 
and not always linear process; circumstances could mean changes in direction, identification 
of new risks or existing risks becoming resolved. The chart below provides only a snapshot 
on a particular date. 
 
The risk scenarios are: 
 

 CSR01: Cinema site remains undeveloped 

 CSR02: Unable to maximise economic opportunities and resolve infrastructure issues 

 CSR03: Resident engagement 

 CSR04: Unable to plan financially over the longer term 

 CSR05: National policy changes in short term impact negatively on TWBC and direction 

 CSR06: Missing something significant (dropping the ball) 

 CSR07: Unable to meet expectations within resources 

 CSR08: Inspector decision which challenges housing targets versus housing supply 

 CSR09: Not managing control and change effectively 

 CSR10: Development programme 

 
 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Strategic Risk Profile December 2016 

Page 19

Appendix A



The table below tracks movement in the identified strategic risk areas since initial approval by Cabinet in April 2014.  
 

Risk 
 Ref 

Title June 2014 March 2015  Sept. 2016 Dec. 2016 
2 Year 
Trend 

CSR 01 Cinema site remains undeveloped. 
15 15 12 12 


(5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 02 
Unable to maximise economic opportunities 
and resolve infrastructure issues. 

15 15 15 15 


(5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 03 Resident engagement. 
12 9 9 9 


(4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 04 
Unable to plan financially over the longer 
term. 

18 18 12 12 


(6 x Lk, 3 x Im) (6 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 05 
National policy changes in short term impact 
negatively on TWBC and direction. 

12 18 18 18 


(6 x Lk, 2 x Im) (6 x Lk, 3 x Im) (6 x Lk, 3 x Im) (6 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 06 
Missing something significant (dropping the 
ball). 

8 15 15 15 


(4 x Lk, 2 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 07 
Unable to meet expectations within 
resources. 

10 15 15 15 


(5 x Lk, 2 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 08 
Inspector decision which challenges housing 
targets vs housing supply. 

16 16 12 12 


(4 x Lk, 4 x Im) (4 x Lk, 4 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 09 Not managing control and change effectively. 
12 12 12 12 


(4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

CSR 10 Development programme. n/a 
15 15 15 


(5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) (5 x Lk, 3 x Im) 

 
 
 

P
age 20

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 1: Cinema site remains undeveloped 

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Significant (4) / Severe(3) 

Cinema Site 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner Jonathan MacDonald 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Cinema Site has a significant impact 

on the overall perception and reputation 
of Tunbridge Wells. Resolving the lack of 
progress on this site is not wholly within 

the Council’s control 

 

 Damage to reputation 

 Curtails attractiveness and 
discourages new investment in 
the Town Centre 

 

 

 A number of pre application meetings have 

now taken place with the new owners  and 

officers as the local planning authority.   

 Timescale for receipt of planning application 

not yet determined but officers are hoping for 

a submission in the 2nd quarter of next year. 

 

P
age 21

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 2: Being unable to maximise economic opportunities and resolve infrastructure issues   

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (5) / Severe (3) 

Economic development and 

infrastructure 

Member Risk 

Owner 

Jane March/Alan 

McDermott 

Officer Risk Owner David Candlin 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 There are economic opportunities but other 
areas are also chasing these. 

 The local economic offer and reputation is 
strong and improving with latent demand, 
particularly in retail and ‘in town’ while the 
Council has developed wider Borough 
opportunities, e.g. North Farm. 

 There are issues around cost of housing and 
infrastructure, particularly traffic congestion 
which could affect ability to make the most of 
opportunities. 

 Referendum (‘Brexit’) decision to leave the 
European Union. The impacts of this decision 
have the potential to have a significant impact 
on the local economy. 

 Lose out to other areas 

 Unable to secure sufficient 
opportunities 

 Local area and people lose out 

 Insufficient inward investment 

 Impact on economic vitality of area 

 Curtails attractiveness 

 Impact on revenue streams and 
income 

 Suffer in comparison to others 

 Damage to reputation 

 

 Delivery by Highways Agency of A21 Tonbridge to 
Pembury dualling. 

 Delivery of North Farm infrastructure improvements. 

 Secure KMEP and SELEP support for delivery of key 
infrastructure improvements. 

 Maintain and develop working relationships with key 
partners, landowners & developers. 

 Establishment of Royal Tunbridge Wells Together town 
centre partnership. 

 Ensure Local Plan and Transport Strategy address 
economic & transport issues. 

 Professional advice secured to establish viability of 
transport schemes. 

 Monitor Brexit negotiations and terms impacting on the 
local economy and business sectors in the Borough. 

 Lobby with partners and stakeholders (including 
SELEP) to minimise negative impact of Brexit terms. 

 Development programme and support for community 
facilities in the rural towns. 

  

P
age 22

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 3: Resident engagement 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Low (3) / Severe (3) 

Local engagement 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 As a result of the significant financial 
pressures it is experiencing, the Council 

has discontinued a number of the 
mechanisms it has used to engage with 
residents including Ward Walks and 

annual residents’ surveys. 

 Local engagement is crucial in place 

shaping and future direction. There is a 
need to ensure mechanisms are in place 

to ensure that decisions are grounded in 
empirical evidence. 

 

 Direction and decisions out of 
line with public opinion 

 Impact on key areas, e.g. 
growth or economic 
development 

 Directing resources to wrong 
areas, potentially away from 

areas of most need 

 

 The Council has set up a number of 
forums/advisory groups representing parish 

councils, residents, retailers and businesses. 

 The Council has undertaken a Borough-wide 
survey. 

 The Council makes proactive use of social 
media both to listen and to engage with 

residents. 

The Council will engage comprehensively as 

part of the process of updating the Five Year 

Plan and as part of the various significant 

projects contained within it. 

 

P
age 23

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 4: Unable to plan financially over the longer term  

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Very High (4) /Severe (3) 

Longer Term Financial Planning 

Member Risk 

Owner 

Cllr Paul Barrington-King Officer Risk Owner Lee Colyer 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in 

place 

 Core Government funding has reduced significantly in 

favour of incentive based schemes reliant on growth. 

 The government have offered a four year funding 
settlement from 2016/17 which would result in all 

Revenue Support Grant (£1.6 million) disappearing. 

 Negative grant is still a possibility in 2019/20. 

 There is a review underway on the New Homes Bonus 
scheme.  

 There is a change in the rate and trajectory of fees and 

charges with a mismatch between demand and revenue. 
A lack of flexibility here can make it difficult to manage 

demand flow. 

 The Infrastructure Bill transferred the statutory 
responsibility for Land Charges to the Land Registry. This 

will substantially reduce the Councils income and write-
off the investment in technology and performance in this 

area. There is also a risk to the public and local 
businesses as national government computer projects 
have a poor track record of delays, budget overspends 

and delivering expected outcome. 

 The Council is exposed to the cost of business rate 

appeals and by 2020 will have a greater stake in the 
amount of business rates collected as Local Government 
is set to receive 100 per cent of this income.  

 Reactive decision making and 

budgeting rather than 
planning. 

 Short term perspective 

reinforced. 

 Central control of fees, 

burdens the Council Tax payer 
rather than the user of the 
service. 

 Impact on decisions. 

 Unpredictability and trust. 

 Resources and staffing 
reduced or redeployed. 

 Impact on staff retention. 

 Credibility damaged. 

 Impact on partnership 

working 

 Missed opportunities to 
collaborate. 

 Appeals wipe out any growth 
with no new funding flowing 

to the Council. 

 Revenue budget balanced 

without the use of general 
reserves. 

 MTFS has manageable deficits. 

 The Council has accepted the 
four year funding offer. 

 The Council is less exposed to 
changes to government funding 
such as Revenue Support Grant 

and New Homes Bonus. 

 User Pays Principle to recover 

costs where allowable. 

 Government has provided more 
flexibility surrounding Council 

Tax income, and a review of 
Planning and Licensing Fees is 

underway. 
 Raising awareness of the impact 

of appeals on local tax payers. 

 Pushing for change in the way 
legislation excludes the Council 

from understanding how the 
Valuation Office Agency settles 
appeals. 

P
age 24

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 5:  National policy changes in short term that impact negatively on TWBC and on direction 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Very High (6) / Severe (3) 

Central government policy changes 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The past few years have been 
characterised by significant changes to 

the public sector environment and the 
regulations that govern it. Further 
significant changes will be taking place 

in the areas of planning and finance 
(including a fundamental review of 

needs assessment and Business Rates). 
There is also uncertainty over the 

powers associated with a current push 
towards ‘devolution deals’ and the 
requirements of government to secure 

such a deal. 

 On 23 June 2016, the United Kingdom 

of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 
voted to leave the European Union. The 
impacts of this decision have the 

potential to be significant but at this 
time it is difficult to quantify how this 

will affect this Council’s ability to plan 
and deliver its priorities. 

 Changes to external 
environment in which TWBC 

operates 

 Unpredictability and frequent 
changes required to Council 

operations 

 Increased costs/reduced 

income 

 

 Flexibility encouraged amongst staff. 

 Partnership working presents opportunities to 

collaborate (e.g. in areas such as welfare 
reform). 

 Constant monitoring of changes being proposed 

or introduced. 

 Ongoing discussions with KCC and neighbouring 

councils to explore opportunities for aligning or 
devolving services. 

 Engagement with the LGA and central 
government. 

 Proactive work with representative bodies. 

 Further reports will come before members as 
the implications of BREXIT become clearer. 

 

P
age 25

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 6:  Missing something significant (£100k – 250k impact) – ‘dropping the ball’ 

 
Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (5) / Severe(3) 

Reduced staff and management 

resources 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner   Lee Colyer 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Council has reduced staff 

numbers and resources with a loss 
of a number of specialist posts and 
increased working in partnership 

with other Authorities. 

  Reduced staff and management 

resources can affect agility to 
respond quickly and with flexibility 
to new requirements from 

community or other stakeholders. 

 Increased threat from cyber 

security attacks. 

 The Information Commissioner can 
now issue fines up to £500,000 for 

data protection breaches. 

 

 Key person dependency 

 Staff being pulled in different 
directions 

 Pressure on staff 

 Loss of knowledge 

 Fail to respond to legislative or 

regulatory requirements 

 Mistakes made/things missed 

 Complaints 

 Claims/Legal action/Compensation 

 Adverse publicity  

 National and local reputation 
affected 

 Financial loss 

 Greater Exposure to fraud and 
transparency requiring worldwide 

publication 

 Health & Safety added as a standing item to MB 

and MT Agenda 

 Resilience through partnership working 

 Shared expertise through partnership working 

 Review of EP arrangements following recent 
sustained flooding 

 Internal Audit identify areas where controls 
need to be improved – action is then taken by 
management 

 Management Board consider risk on a quarterly 
basis – including horizon scanning  

 Further communication to staff will be provided 
on requirements and risks from additional 
transparency rules. 

 Information Governance Forum established. 

 Designation of a Senior Information Risk 

Officer. 

 

P
age 26

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 7: Being unable to meet expectations within resources  
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (5) / Severe (3) 

Reduced resources/increased demands 

and expectations 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner   William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Council has reduced staff numbers 
and resources but is more ambitious 

with more priorities and is seeking to do 
more than before.  

  The local community is vocal, 
demanding and articulate with 
significant expectations. 

 

 Increased stress and strain 

 Impact on morale 

 Reliance on key and fewer 
people 

 Services/staff are stretched 

 Impact on service quality 

 Satisfaction diminished 

 Campaigns launched by local 
community 

 Adverse publicity 

 Resources required to respond 
to campaigns 

 Damage to reputation 

 

 Reduced number of priorities in strategic plan 

 Regular consideration by Management board of 

resources and additional resources put in place to 
support priorities (including additional resources 

recently agreed to support the Council’s property 
section). 

 Introduction of a Programme Management Office 

to oversee priority projects. 

 Appropriate use of external capacity and 

expertise. 

 Performance monitoring helps to identify pressure 
points 

 Regular sickness monitoring 

 Quarterly analysis and reporting of complaints 

identifying any trends 

 Identifying resilience through partnerships 

 Adopting an “enabling” approach to encourage 

community to deliver local services 

 

P
age 27

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 8:  Inspector decision which challenges housing target vs housing supply 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact   Significant (4) / Severe (3) 

Housing target/supply 

Member Risk 

Owner 

Alan McDermott Officer Risk Owner Jonathan MacDonald 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 There has been a change in housing 
formula towards growth. There is 

resistance to housing growth locally with 
a difference between housing target and 
housing supply levels 

 The statutory revision to the method of 
calculating housing need, “Objectively 

Assessed Need” (OAN) indicates that the 
Borough’s need is more than doubled. 
Whilst this is before consideration is 

given to reductions because of 
constraints this effectively means that 

policies limiting development to within 
the limits of built development fall away 

 Risk of appeals has increased 

 

 Council lose control of situation 

 Increase in level of housing on 

greenfield sites 

 Member and community dissatisfaction 

 Increased traffic congestion 

 Impact on infrastructure 

 Financial benefit of planned growth – 

opportunity impact 

 Significant new costs to support 
production of new Core Strategy/Local 

Plan 

 Potential significant appeal related costs 

following refusal of major residential 
development 

 Planning by appeal potentially leading to 

loss of New Homes Bonus  

 Potential legal fees/officer costs/loss of 

section 106 

 Work on new Local Plan has commenced. 

 Regular reporting to Planning Policy 

Working Group/Cabinet member/ 
Planning Committee on risk and 
legislative changes 

 Restructure of Planning Team to support 
flexible working has been completed. 

 Consideration by the constitutional 
working party. 

 Site allocations document found sound by 

independent inspector.  Council recently 
has been notified of an application for 

judicial review which council will defend if 
necessary. 

 

 

P
age 28

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 9:  Not managing control and change effectively – Staff, Management, and Political 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact Significant (4)/ Severe (3) 

 Shared Services – control and change  

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Council is involved in joint service 
arrangements around a number of 

service areas (most notably Mid Kent 
Services) 

 Managerial responsibility for these 

services is largely within other 
authorities which limits control of the 

services and their ability to contribute 
towards ‘corporate’ initiatives (such as 

emergency planning) 

 Opportunities for partnership working 
and devolution are being explored with 

neighbouring councils and KCC but this 
is on a different geographic footprint to 

Mid Kent Service. 

 

 Staff dissatisfaction/loss of 
goodwill 

 Service delivery affected 

 Strain on people working in 
partnership 

 Impact felt by wider 
organisation 

 Political dissatisfaction 

 

 MKS is overseen by both a Board and shared 
service boards. 

 The operation of the ‘client side’ has been 
strengthened through ‘shared service boards’ and 
regular performance reporting. 

 The overarching governance arrangements have 
been reviewed and updated as have the individual 

collaboration agreements for each shared service.  

 A Mid Kent Services Director post has been 

created to provide a greater sense of direction and 
‘esprit de corps’ within Mid Kent Services. 

 Reviews will be undertaken of the implementation 

of shared services to learn lessons. 

 

P
age 29

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 10:  Development Programme 
 

Risk Description:  Likelihood/Impact High (5) / Severe(3) 

Development Programme 

Member Risk 

Owner 

David Jukes Officer Risk Owner David Candlin 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ 

Consequences 

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place 

 The Council has identified a number of 
development opportunities to support the 
growth of the local economy. 
 

 Development of these Council owned sites is 
to be led by the Council which brings 
additional financial and property risks. 

 

 

 

 

 

 Impact on revenue streams and 
income 

 Damage to reputation 

 Insufficient professional expertise 

 Procurement and issues of delay 

 Economic climate 

 Development Advisory Panel (DAP) to review and 
inform all Council civic development and community 
programmes. 

 Programme Board established to oversee and monitor 
progress on all development and transformation 
projects. 

 Officer Groups for the Civic, development and 
community programmes, established to manage and 
control the programmes.  

 Professional advice sought to establish viability and 
support delivery of Council Civic, development and 
community programme schemes.   

 Utilisation of framework agreements where appropriate 
to manage procurement timetables. 

 Specific risk logs developed for each development site 
and monitored by DAP and Officer Groups. 

 Staged approvals for development progress to manage 
cost exposure and risk 

 Appointment of additional professional staff to enhance 
in-house experience 

 
 
 

 
 

P
age 30

A
ppendix A



 

Audit and Governance 
Committee 

5 December 2016 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? No 

 

Annual Audit Letter 2015/16 
 

Final Decision-Maker Cabinet 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Cllr. Paul Barrington-King, Portfolio Holder for 
Finance and Governance 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer, Director of Finance & Corporate 
Services 

Head of Service Jane Fineman, Head of Finance & Procurement 

Lead Officer/Report Author Lee Colyer, Director of Finance & Corporate 
Services 

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendation(s) to the final decision-maker: 

1. That the Audit and Governance Committee consider and approve the Annual Audit 
Letter. 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

 A Prosperous Borough 

 A Confident Borough 

The Annual Audit Letter provides a judgement on whether the Council has in place 
sound governance arrangements and quality financial information to deliver the 
Council’s Strategic Plan. 

  

Timetable  

Meeting Date 

Management Board 23 November 2016 (verbal update) 

Discussion with Portfolio Holder 14 November 2016 

Audit and Governance Committee 5 December 2016 

Cabinet Advisory Board 13 December 2016 

Cabinet 12 January 2017 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6(B)



 

Annual Audit Letter 2015/16 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report outlines the conclusions of the 2015/16 annual audit of Tunbridge 

Wells Borough Council by Grant Thornton.  
 
1.2 Overall the Audit Letter is extremely reassuring in that, despite the very 

challenging financial environment and the complexities of local government 
accounting, the Council has once again been found to have in place good 
financial governance and effective forward planning. Both of these are essential 
to support sound strategic decision-making in difficult circumstances. 

 

1.3 This is the sixth year in succession that the Council has received a clean 
financial bill of health. 

 

1.4 The Audit Letter confirms an unqualified audit opinion across all areas and 
comments that the Council put in place proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 
ending 31 March 2016.  

 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 A copy of the Annual Audit Letter is appended. 
 
2.2 Each year, the external auditor (Grant Thornton) carries out a series of audits 

and assessments on the Council’s functions. The findings from the 2015/16 
audit comprise the following elements: 

 

 Financial statements audit (including audit opinion); 

 Value for money conclusion; 

 Whole of government accounts; 

 Certification of grant claims and returns; and 

 Audit fee 
 

Audit Opinion and Financial Statements 
 
2.3 The appointed auditor issued an unqualified audit opinion on the Council’s 

financial statements on 28 July 2016 (two months earlier than required). The 
Council had once again produced a set of financial statements to a high 
standard.  

 
Value for Money 

 
2.4 The appointed auditor reviewed the Council’s arrangements against the three 

expected characteristics of: 
 

Page 32

Agenda Item 6(B)



 

 Financial governance; 

 Financial planning; and 

 Financial control 
 
2.5 The Council met or exceeded adequate standards and had a deep 

understanding of the financial challenges faced which forms the foundation for 
robust planning to manage the challenges ahead. Financial governance 
arrangements are effective and financial control arrangements are strong. 

 
Whole of Government Accounts 

 
2.6 The Council prepares a data pack which is used by HM Treasury to produce a 

consolidated set of financial statements for the UK public sector. This Council’s 
data was accepted by the Government but is below the financial threshold that 
requires a separate audit. 

 
Certification of Grant Claims and Returns 

 
2.7 The only grant claim that requires audit certification is the claim for housing 

benefits. This work is substantially complete and the results will be reported 
separately in the ‘External Audit progress report’ (Item 6(C) on this agenda). 

 
Audit Fee 

 
2.8 The total audit fee for 2015/16 was £51,230 (excluding grant certification), 

which is in line with the planned fee for the year. 
 

Impact for Residents 
 
2.9 It is very reassuring for Council Tax payers to know that public funds are well 

controlled and that further financial challenges are being effectively planned for. 
 
2.10 This ‘clean’ Annual Audit Letter, in addition to previous years, has contributed to 

lower external audit fees. 
 

 
3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 There are no alternative options.  
 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To consider and approve the Annual Audit Letter. It is a requirement that the 

Cabinet and the Audit and Governance Committee should consider the external 
auditor’s Annual Audit Letter. 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6(B)



 

5. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 The Annual Audit Letter is issued to all members and will be considered by 

Cabinet and the Audit and Governance Committee.  
 

 
6. NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
6.1 The Annual Audit Letter will be published on to the Council’s website. 
 

 
7. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

(name of officer 
and date) 

Legal including 
Human Rights Act 

The terms of reference for the Audit and 
Governance Committee specifically require the 
Committee to consider the external auditor’s 
annual letter.  

Head of Legal 
Partnership 

Finance and other 
resources 

The areas that are assessed within the Annual 
Audit Letter form a significant part of the workload 
of the Finance Section. The level of fees is 
included with the revenue budget.  

Head of Finance 
and Procurement 

Staffing 
establishment 

There are no new staffing implications. Head of HR or 
deputy 

Risk management   The level of audit fees reflects a reduction in risk 
associated with the control, accounting and 
planning of the Council’s finances. 

Head of Audit 
Partnership 

Environment  
and sustainability 

There are no new environmental implications. Sustainability 
Manager 

Community safety 

 

There are no new community safety implications. Community 
Safety Manager 

Health and Safety There are no new health and safety implications. Health and 
Safety Advisor 

Health and 
wellbeing 

There are no new health and wellbeing 
implications. 

Healthy Lifestyles 
Co-ordinator 

Equalities There are no new equalities implications. West Kent 
Equalities Officer 

 
8. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report: 

 Appendix A: The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council year 
ended 31 March 2016 

 

Page 34

Agenda Item 6(B)



 

 
 
 
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
None 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6(B)



This page is intentionally left blank



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council    |  October 2016

The Annual Audit Letter

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Year ended 31 March 2016

October 2016

Ade Oyerinde
Manager
T +44 (0)20 7728 3332
E ade.oyerinde@uk.gt.com

Darren Wells
Engagement Lead
T 01293 554120
E darren.j.wells@uk.gt.com

Graham Short
Executive
T +44 (01293 554 088
E graham.short@uk.gt.com

P
age 37

A
ppendix A



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council    |  October 2016 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive summary 3

2. Audit of the accounts 4

3. Value for Money conclusion 7

4. Working with the Council 9

Appendices

A Reports issued and fees 10

P
age 38

A
ppendix A



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council    |  October 2016 3

Executive summary

Purpose of this letter

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the 

work that we have carried out at Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (the Council ) 

for the year ended 31 March 2016.

This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our work to the 

Council and its external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that we wish to draw 

to the attention of the public.  In preparing this letter, we have followed the 

National Audit Office (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and  Auditor 

Guidance Note (AGN) 07 – 'Auditor Reporting'.

We reported the detailed findings from our audit work to the Council's Audit and 

Governance Committee as those charged with governance in our Audit Findings 

Report on 26 July 2016.

Our responsibilities

We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit 

Practice, which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 (the Act). Our key responsibilities are to:

• give an opinion on the Council's financial statements (section two)

• assess the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section 

three).

In our audit of the Council's financial statements, we comply with International 

Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the 

NAO.

Our work

Financial statements opinion

We gave an unqualified opinions on the Council's financial statements on 28  July 

2016.

Value for money conclusion

We were satisfied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to ensure 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources during the year ended 

31 March 2016. We reflected this in our audit opinion on 28 July 2016. 

Certificate

We certified that we had completed the audit of the accounts of the Council in 

accordance with the requirements of the Code on 28 July 2016.

.

Certification of grants

We also carry out work to certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on 

behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions. Our work on this claim is not 

yet complete and will be finalised by 30 November 2016. We will report the results 

of this work to the Audit and Governance Committee in  our Annual Certification 

Letter.

Working with the Council

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation

provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

October 2016

P
age 39

A
ppendix A



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council    |  October 2016 4

Audit of  the accounts

Our audit approach

Materiality

In our audit of the Council's accounts, we used the concept of materiality to 

determine the nature, timing and extent of our work, and in evaluating the results 

of our work. We defined materiality as the size of the misstatement in the financial 

statements that would lead a reasonably knowledgeable person to change or 

influence their economic decisions. 

We determined materiality for our audit of the Council's accounts to be £1,384k 

(being 2% of gross revenue expenditure ). We used this benchmark, as in our view, 

users of the Council's accounts are most interested in how it has spent the income 

it has raised from taxation and grants during the year. 

We also set a lower level of specific materiality for cash and cash equivalents.

We set a lower threshold of £63k, above which we reported errors to the Audit 

Committee in our Audit Findings Report.

The scope of our audit

Our audit involved obtaining enough evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements to give reasonable assurance that they 

were free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 

This included assessing whether: 

• the Council's accounting policies were appropriate, had been consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed; 

• significant accounting estimates made by management were reasonable; and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements gaves a true and fair view.

We also read the narrative report and annual governance statement to check 

they were consistent with our understanding of the Council and with the 

accounts on which we gave our opinion.

We carried out our audit in line with ISAs (UK and Ireland) and the NAO Code 

of Audit Practice. We believe the audit evidence we obtained was sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council's 

business and is risk based. 

We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work we performed in response 

to these risks and the results of this work.

P
age 40

A
ppendix A



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council    |  October 2016 5

Audit of  the accounts 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk

Employee remuneration
Employee remuneration accruals understated
(Remuneration expenses not correct)

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

• documented our understanding of processes and key controls over the transaction cycle

• undertook walkthrough of the key controls to assess the whether those controls were in line with our documented 
understanding

• reviewed reconciliations of the payroll to the ledger

• analytical review using trend analysis

• tested payroll transactions to payslips and HR contract of employment.

We did not identify any material issues to report.

Operating expenses

Creditors understated or not recorded in the correct 
period

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

• documented our understanding of processes and key controls over the transaction cycle

• undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess whether those controls were in line with our documented 
understanding

• sample testing of  operating expenditure during the year

• testing of the year end payables and manual accruals

• testing for unrecorded liabilities.

We did not identify any material  issues to report.

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

P
age 41

A
ppendix A



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council    |  October 2016 6

Audit of  the accounts 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk

Valuation of property, plant and equipment
The Council revalues its assets on a rolling basis over a 
five year period. The Code requires that the Council 
ensures that  the carrying value at the balance sheet date 
is not materially different from the current value. This 
represents a significant estimate by management in the 
financial statements.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

• reviewed management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate

• reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts used

• reviewed the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their work

• discussed with your valuer the basis on which the valuation is carried out and challenged the key assumptions;

• reviewed and challenged  the information used by the valuer to ensure it is robust and consistent with our 
understanding

• tested revaluations made during the year to ensure they are input correctly into the Council's asset register;

• evaluated the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during the year and how 
management has satisfied themselves these are not materially different to current value.

We did not identify any material issues to report.

Valuation of pension fund net liability
The Council's pension fund asset and liability as reflected 
in the balance sheet represent significant estimates in the 
financial statements.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

• documented the key controls that were put in place by management to ensure the pension fund liability was not 
materially misstated

• undertook walkthrough of the key controls to assess the whether the controls were in line with our documented 
understanding

• reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who carried out your pension fund valuation

• gained an understanding of the basis on which the IAS19 valuation was carried out, including procedures to 
confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made

• reviewed the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in notes to the financial statements 
with the actuarial report from your actuary.

We did not identify any material issues to report.

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

P
age 42

A
ppendix A



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council    |  October 2016 7

Audit of  the accounts

Audit opinion

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's accounts on 28 July 2016, in 

advance of the 30 September 2016 national deadline.

The Council made the accounts available for audit in line with the agreed 

timetable, and provided a good set of working papers to support them. The 

Finance Team prepared the draft statements over a much shorter timescale than in 

previous years and is well placed to achieve the planned early close of accounts 

from  2017/18. We commended the Finance Team for their efforts. The finance 

team also responded promptly and efficiently to our queries during the course of 

the audit.

Key messages arising from the audit of the accounts

We reported the key issues from our audit of the accounts of the Council to the 

Council's Audit and Governance Committee on 28 July 2016. 

In addition to the key audit risks reported above, we reported to the Committee:  

• the quality of the draft statements presented for audit on 1 June 2016 was good 

and free of errors; 

• the finance team responded promptly and comprehensively to audit requests 

and queries;

• the audit of the accounts was completed two months earlier than in previous 

years. 

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report

We are also required to review the Council's Annual Governance Statement and 

Narrative Report. It published them on its website with the draft accounts in 

line with the national deadlines. 

Both documents were prepared in line with the relevant guidance and were 

consistent with  the supporting evidence provided by the Council and with our 

knowledge of the Council. 

Other statutory duties 

We also have additional powers and duties under the Act, including powers to 

issue a public interest report, make written recommendations, apply to the 

Court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law, and to give 

electors the opportunity to raise questions about the Council's accounts and to 

raise objections received in relation to the accounts.

We had no matters to report.

P
age 43

A
ppendix A



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council    |  October 2016 8

Value for Money conclusion

Background

We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit Practice 

(the Code), following the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2015 which 

specified the criterion for auditors to evaluate:

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources 

to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

Key findings

Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and 

identify the key risks where we concentrated our work. As a result of our risk 

assessment, we reported to the Audit and Governance Committee that we had not 

identified any significant risks requiring further work. 

In arriving at our conclusion, our main considerations included the following:

• the Council continues to maintain its positive track record of delivering 

underspends against budget. Efficiencies in the year led to the Council making a 

contribution to the general fund reserves of £231k resulting in a closing general 

fund balance as at 31 March 2016 of £7.9 million in line with the longer term 

financial strategy;

• the Council set a balanced revenue budget for 2016/17 of £65.6 million despite 

the reductions in government grants such as revenue support grant. The 

Cabinet assessed and approved the revenue budget plan as being credible, 

however if expected savings or efficiencies fail to be delivered, a budget gap 

would occur requiring the use of reserves. The Council recognises that the use 

of general reserves is unsustainable over the longer term and has continued to 

employ a strategy of tight financial control taking corrective actions as and 

when required to ensure a balanced outturn can be achieved by 31 March 2017;

• the Council's 2016/17 corporate priorities was refreshed and aligned with the 

Leader’s Five Year Plan 2014 - 2019. Cabinet adopted the Five Year Plan that is 

underpinned by the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the 2016/17 Property 

Asset Management Plan, and the People Strategy. Overall, the Council adopted 

14 priorities for 2016/17 across three broad themes being: a prosperous 

borough, a confident borough and a green borough. Performance against each 

priority are reported regularly to Cabinet

• reviewed the Council's on-going partnerships with neighbouring Kent districts 

and the County. We noted last year  the Council was withdrawing from the 

three-way shared Planning Support service largely due to poorer level of 

performance achieved. The withdrawal is substantially complete and the 

Council expects to start delivering the service in-house in the summer of 2016.

Meanwhile, the Council is continuing to explore other new partnerships 

including a three-way shared debt recovery service. Following a change in 

legislation, the Council and its partners are seeking to use the new regulations 

to provide debt recovery service whilst generating income from court referral 

costs. The arrangements are still at an early stage with recruitments taking place 

to support service delivery.

Overall VfM conclusion

We were satisfied that in all significant respects the Council had put in place 

proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources for the year ending 31 March 2016.

P
age 44

A
ppendix A



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council    |  October 2016 9

Working with the Council

Our work with you in 2015/16

We are really pleased to have worked with you  over the past year. We 

have established a positive and constructive relationship. Together we 

have delivered some great outcomes. 

An efficient audit – we delivered the accounts audit starting in June in 

line with the timescale we agreed with you. Our audit team are 

knowledgeable and experienced in your financial accounts and systems. 

Our relationship with your team provides you with a timely financial 

statements audit releasing your finance team for other important work. 

Improved processes – during the year we worked together to review and 

audit the year end accounts some two months earlier than previous year. 

We will hold debrief meeting with the Finance meeting to embed the 

efficiencies in the audit approach in the future.

Through the Value for Money  conclusion  we provided you with 

assurance on your operational effectiveness of your financial health.

Sharing our insight – we provided regular updates to the Council 

covering best practice.  Areas we covered included  our reports on 

Innovation in public financial management, Making devolution work, 

Reforging local government. We will continue to provide you with our 

insights.

Providing information – We provided you with access to CFO insights, 

our online analysis tool providing you with access to insight on the financial 

performance, socio-economy context and service outcomes of councils 

across the country.  

We will also continue to work with you and support you over the next 

financial year to embed your production of your year-end accounts. From 

2017/18 all councils in England will be required to publish their audited 

financial statements by 31st July (currently 30th September). 

We will continue to liaise closely with the senior finance team during 

2016/17 on this important accounting development, with timely feedback 

on any emerging issues to improve the audit process.  The audit risks 

associated with this new development and the work we plan to carry out to 

address them will be reflected in our 2016/17 Audit Plan.

P
age 45

A
ppendix A



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council    |  October 2016 10

Appendix A: Reports issued and fees

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and fees for the provision of non audit services.

The proposed fees for the Council's audit  were in line with the scale fee 

set by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA).

* Work still in progress – completion due in November 2016. Fee 

variations are subject to approval by PSAA.

Reports issued

Report Date issued

Audit Plan March 2016

Audit Findings Report July 2016

Auditor's opinion on accounts July 2016

Auditor's value for money conclusion July 2016

Annual Audit Letter October 2016 

Independence and ethics

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our 

independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We 

have complied with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and therefore we 

confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the 

financial statements.

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the 

requirements of the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards.

Fees

Per Audit plan
£

Actual fees 
£

Council audit 51,230 51,230

Audit of subsidiary company 
Tunbridge Wells Property Holdings 
Company

**5,000 TBC

Grant certification on behalf of Public 
Sector Audit Appointments Limited 
(estimated) *

*12,144 TBC

Total audit fees 68,474 51,230

Fees for other services

Service Fees £

Non-audit services – Tax advisory to Tunbridge Wells Property Holdings 
Company

**2,000

Total £2,000

** Work in progress – completion due in December 2016.

P
age 46

A
ppendix A



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Tunbridge Wells Borough Council    |  October 2016

P
age 47

A
ppendix A



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit and Governance 
Committee 

5 December 2016 

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

External Audit Progress Report 
 

Final Decision-Maker Audit and Governance Committee 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Cllr. Paul Barrington-King, Portfolio-holder for 
Finance and Governance 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer, Director of Finance & Corporate 
Services (s151 Officer)  

Head of Service Jane Fineman, Head of Finance and Procurement 

Lead Officer/Report Author Lee Colyer, Director of Finance & Corporate 
Services (s151 Officer) 

Classification Non-exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendation to the final decision-maker: 

1. That the Audit and Governance Committee consider the progress report. 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

 A Prosperous Borough 

 A Confident Borough 

  

Timetable  

Meeting Date 

Management Board 23 November 2016 (verbal update) 

Discussion with Portfolio Holder 15 November 2016 

Audit and Governance Committee 5 December 2016 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6(C)



 

External Audit Progress Report 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides the Audit and Governance Committee with an update from 

the external auditors on progress in delivering their responsibilities.  
 
1.2 The report also includes the audit of key grant and subsidy claims. This is to 

provide assurance to the grant paying body that the claims for grant and 
subsidies are made properly and that the financial returns are reliable. Grant 
Thornton are the Council’s external auditors and are acting as agents of the 
Audit Commission. 

 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The attached report provides an update from Grant Thornton on the progress of 

their work covering: 
 

 A summary of emerging issues and developments; and 

 A number of challenges and questions in respect of these emerging 
issues which the Committee may wish to consider. 

 
2.2 The external auditors continue to work with the Council’s finance staff and there 

are no significant matters arising from the audit work at the current time. 
 

2.3 This report provides the public with assurance from Grant Thornton’s work that 
public funds are being correctly accounted for and safeguarded. 

 

Results of the 2015/16 Certification Work 
 

2.4 Grant Thornton concluded that they are satisfied that the Council has 
appropriate arrangements in place to compile complete, accurate and timely 
claims/returns for audit certification. However, they did identify some errors 
which resulted in minor agreed amendments to the claim which are detailed in 
Appendix B.  

 

 
3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 The Audit and Governance Committee could choose not to receive interim 

progress reports.  
 

  

Page 50

Agenda Item 6(C)



 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The Audit and Governance Committee should consider the progress report. The 

functions and delegations, as outlined in the Constitution terms of reference, 
state that the Committee should: 

 

 agree the external Audit Plan for the year; 

 approve the cost of the audit; 

 consider specific reports as agreed with the external audit work and 
ensure it gives value for money; and 

 comment on the scope and depth of external audit work to ensure it gives 
value for money. 

 

 
5. CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 At the conclusion of each piece of work Grant Thornton will issue a public report 

which will be discussed at the Audit and Governance Committee.  
 

 
6. NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

DECISION 
 
6.1 This report is just an update, however all Grant Thornton final reports will be 

published on to the Council’s website. 
 

 
7. CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

(name of officer 
and date) 

Legal including 
Human Rights Act 

The Audit and Governance Committee has a legal 
obligation for the Council’s governance 
arrangements.  

Head of Legal  

Finance and other 
resources 

The areas that are assessed form a significant 
part of the workload of the Finance Section.  

Head of Finance 
and Procurement 

Staffing 
establishment 

There are no new staffing implications. Head of HR 

Risk management   This is assessed as part of the value for money 
conclusion. 

Head of Audit 
Partnership 

Environment  
and sustainability 

There are no new environmental implications. Sustainability 
Manager 

Community safety 

 

There are no new community safety implications. Community 
Safety Manager 

Health and Safety There are no new health and safety implications. Health and 
Safety Advisor 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6(C)



 

Health and 
wellbeing 

There are no new health and wellbeing 
implications. 

Healthy Lifestyles 
Co-ordinator 

Equalities There are no new equalities implications. West Kent 
Equalities Officer 

 
8. REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report: 

 Appendix A: Audit and Governance Committee Progress Report 
 

 
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
None 

Page 52

Agenda Item 6(C)



Audit and Governance Committee 

Progress and Update Report for 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Year ended 31 March 2017

5 December 2016

Darren Wells
Director
T +44 (0)1293 554 120
E darren.wells@uk.gt.com

Ade Oyerinde
Audit Manager
T (0)20 7728 3293
E ade.o.oyerinde@uk.gt.com

P
age 53

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

2© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be 
reported to you as part of our audit process. It is not a comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may 
be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may 
affect your business or any weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your 
benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. We do not accept any 
responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content 
of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

P
age 54

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

3© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Introduction

Members of the Audit and Governance Committee can find further useful material on our website www.grant-thornton.co.uk, 

where we have a section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications:

• Innovation in public financial management (December 2015); www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-

in-public-financial-management/

• Knowing the Ropes – Audit Committee; Effectiveness Review (October 2015); 

www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/

• Making devolution work: A practical guide for local leaders (October 2015) 

www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/

• Reforging local government: Summary findings of financial health checks and governance reviews (December 2015) 

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/reforging-local-government/,

Members and officers may also be interested in out recent webinars:

Alternative delivery models: Interview with Helen Randall of Trowers and Hamlins, discussing LATCs and JVs in local 

government. http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/qa-on-local-authority-alternative-delivery-models/

Cyber security in the public sector: Our short video outlines questions for public sector organisations to ask in 
defending against cyber crime  http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/cyber-security-in-the-public-sector/

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to receive

regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or Engagement 

Manager.

This paper provides the Audit and Governance Committee 

with a report on progress in delivering our responsibilities as 

your external auditors. 

P
age 55

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

4© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Progress at December 2016

2015/16 work - conclusion Completed Comments

Annual Audit Letter
We issued the 'Annual Audit Letter for 2015/16 in October 2016. October 2016

The Letter summarises the key findings arising from the work that we have carried out at 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council for the year ended 31 March 2016. The Letter was agreed 
with the Director of Finance and Corporate Services and will made available to all members 
of the Cabinet. A copy of the Letter will also be available on the Council's website.

Grant Certification
We are required to certify certain claims and returns submitted by 
the Council. Certification arrangements are prescribed by PSAA
Ltd.

November 2016
At the time of writing, our work is substantially complete on the Housing Benefit grant claim. 
We will certify the claim following the conclusion of our closing procedures by 30 November 
2016.

A draft copy of the claims report is attached at appendix 1

P
age 56

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

5© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Progress at December 2016

2016/17 work Planned Date Complete? Comments

Fee Letter 
We are required to issue a 'Planned fee letter for 2016/17 by the 
end of April 2016.

April 2016 Yes The 2016/17 fee letter was issued in March 2016 and considered by 
the committee in June 2016.

Accounts Audit Plan
We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the 
Council setting out our proposed approach in order to give an 
opinion on the Council's 2016/17 financial statements.

April 2017 Not yet due

Our Audit Plan will be presented to the April 2017 committee. The Plan 
will be based on our regular liaison meetings with the finance team and 
from findings from our initial planning and risk assessment audit visits.

Interim accounts audit 
Our interim fieldwork visit plan included:
• updated review of the Council's control environment
• updated understanding of financial systems
• review of Internal Audit reports on core financial systems
• early work on emerging accounting issues
• early substantive testing
• Value for Money conclusion risk assessment.

Initial planning, 
risk assessment, 
early substantive 

testing

Dec 2016 - Feb 
2017  

Not yet due

We have planned regular audit visits throughout the financial year to 
ensure that we carry out as much early testing as possible before the 
accounts audit visit in June 2017.

Final accounts audit
Including:
• audit of the 2016/17 financial statements
• proposed opinion on the Council's accounts
• proposed Value for Money conclusion
• review of the Council's disclosures in the accounts against the 

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2016/17  

June – July 2017 Not yet due

The Council's early closedown timetable will be delivered again in 
2016/17.

P
age 57

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

6© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Progress at November 2016

2016/17 work Planned Date Complete? Comments

Value for Money (VfM) conclusion
The scope of our work changed and was set out in the final 
guidance issued by the National Audit Office in November 2015. 
The Code requires auditors to satisfy themselves that; "the Council 
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources".
The guidance confirmed the overall criterion as; "in all significant 
respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it 
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to 
achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people".
The three sub criteria for assessment to be able to give a 
conclusion overall are:
• Informed decision making
• Sustainable resource deployment
• Working with partners and other third parties

Initial planning
and detailed
assessment

Feb – May  2017

Not yet due
We will set out the results of our risk assessment and the proposed 
focus of our work in the Audit Plan.

The results of our VfM audit work and the key messages arising will be 
reported in our Audit Findings Report.

We will include our conclusion as part of our report on your financial 
statements.

Other areas of work 
We have issued our LG financial health and governance review 
and Faster Close report.

Further information on the report is set out on page 17.

P
age 58

A
ppendix A



Grant Thornton 
Sector IssuesP

age 59

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

8© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Brexit: What happens next and 
what does it mean for you?

The people of  the UK have made a decision to leave the EU. What happens 

next - and the implications for businesses and organisations in the UK - is 

less clear. 

We have produced an analysis of what we know about the mechanics of leaving the EU, our assessment of some of the external factors that may affect organisations over the 

coming months and years, and a summary of the different models for trading relationships outside the EU. This can be found on our website and we have attached copies to this 

report. 

In thinking about the impact organisations will want to consider not only legal and regulatory changes but also market reactions, consumer and business behaviours, and the wider 

political and economic environment.  The Council will have a role in both shaping its own response and in helping organisations respond to a changing environment. We can 

expect three broad phases of reaction to Brexit:

•       initial volatility

•       medium term uncertainty and instability

•       longer term transition 

 The impact of this will be different for every organisation. In looking at the threats and opportunities these phases create, and planning how the Council can create and protect 

value, you may wish to consider the short, medium and long term implications for issues like people and talent, strategic ambitions, financing, risk, operations and protecting 

investment.

We believe that in the coming weeks and months, dynamic organisations have a critical role to play in helping to shape the future of Britain. Grant Thornton is leading a campaign 

which explores how we can build a vibrant economy. You can find out more here: http://vibranteconomy.co.uk/

We would welcome views on what the priorities should be for government and the UK to create a new economy outside the EU.

Emerging issues

P
age 60

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

9© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Financial sustainability of  local 
authorities: capital expenditure and resourcing

According to the NAO, local 

authorities in England have 

maintained their overall capital 

spending levels but face pressure to 

meet debt servicing costs and to 

maintain investment levels in their 

existing asset bases.

Since 2010-11, local authorities have faced less pressure on 

their resources to support capital expenditure as compared 

to revenue. Although local authorities’ revenue spending 

power fell by over 25 per cent  in real terms from 2010-11 

to 2015-16, the NAO estimates that capital grants to 

authorities marginally increased from 2010-11 to 2014-15, 

(excluding education).

Capital spending by authorities increased by more than 

five per cent in real terms overall between 2010-11 and 

2014-15, but this is uneven across local authorities and 

service areas. Almost half of authorities reduced their 

capital spending. Most service areas saw an increase in 

capital spend with the exception of culture and leisure: 

capital spending fell by 22 per cent overall in this area.

The NAO's report, published on 15 June, found that 

authorities face a growing challenge to continue long-

term investment in their existing assets. Total spending 

has remained stable, but increasingly capital activities are 

focused on ‘invest to save’ and growth schemes that 

cover their costs or have potential to deliver a revenue 

return. Many areas of authorities’ asset management 

programmes do not meet these criteria and are now seen 

as a lower priority.

The report also notes that local authorities’ debt servicing 

costs have grown as a proportion of revenue spending as 

revenue resources have fallen. A quarter of single-tier and 

county councils now spend the equivalent of 10 per cent 

or more of their revenue expenditure on debt servicing, 

with metropolitan district councils being particularly 

exposed.

According to the NAO, DCLG has rightly focused on 

revenue issues in the 2015 Spending Review but in future 

reviews will need to focus more on capital. The 

Department is confident from its engagement with 

authorities that revenue pressures are their main concern, 

however the NAO’s analysis demonstrates that capital 

costs exert significant and growing pressure on revenue 

resources. 

National Audit Office

The full report is available at:

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/fina
ncial-sustainability-of-local-
authorities-capital-expenditure-
and-resourcing/P

age 61

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

10© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

The changing face of  Corporate 
Reporting 

We have established a global network 

of  public sector auditors and advisors 

to share good practice and to provide 

informed solutions to the corporate 

reporting challenges our clients face. 

We were fortunate to have the CEO of the IIRC speak at 

our most recent meeting. Integrated Reporting, <IR>, is a 

new approach to corporate reporting and it is building a 

world-wide following in both the public and private 

sectors. 

In the commercial sector, <IR> has led to improvements 

in business decision making, the understanding of risks 

and opportunities as well as better collaborative thinking 

by boards about goals and targets..

<IR> is based on integrated thinking that results in a 

report by an organisation about sustainable value creation. 

It requires a more cohesive and efficient approach to 

organisational reporting that draws on different reporting 

strands and communicates the full range of factors that 

materially affect the ability of an organisation to create 

value over time.

By moving the focus away from only short-term, 

backward looking, financial reporting, <IR> encourages 

organisations to report on a broader range of measures 

that link their strategic objectives to their performance. 

The result is an overview of an organisation's activities 

and performance in a much wider, more holistic, context.

• <IR> encourages organisations to consider whether 

there are any gaps in the information that is currently 

available to them, so that integrated thinking becomes 

embedded in mainstream practice.

• <IR> is underpinned by the International <IR> 

Framework published in December 2013. It is 

principles- based, allowing organisations to innovate 

and develop their reporting in the context of their 

own regulatory framework, strategy, key drivers, goals 

and objectives.

• <IR> is consistent with the Strategic Reports 

required from UK companies, the Performance 

Reports that government departments, agencies and 

NHS bodies produce and the developing Narrative 

Reporting in local government.

The IIRC has established a Public Sector Pioneer 

Network to consider why and how the public sector can 

adopt <IR>, with the end goal of improving 

transparency and building trust. There is already a core of 

UK organisations within this.

<Integrated Reporting>

Further information is available 
on the IIRC's website

P
age 62

A
ppendix A



Grant Thornton 
Technical updateP

age 63

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

12© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Accounting and audit issues

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in t he United Kingdom 2016/17

CIPFA/LASAAC has issued the Local Authority Accounting Code for 2016/17. The main changes to the Code include:
• the new measurement requirements at depreciated replacement cost for the Highways Network Asset (HNA) and
• the requirement for local authorities to report in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on the same basis as they 

are organised and report in the year (ie. no longer following SERCOP). This is accompanied by the introduction of a new Expenditure 
and Funding Analysis which provides a reconciliation between the way local authorities budget and report during the year and the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

In respect of HNA, the Accounting Code requires local authorities to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Transport Infrastructure 
Assets issued in 2013. The Transport Infrastructure Code has been recently reissued as the Highways Network Asset Code (HNA Code). 
Whilst no major changes have been identified in the new Code to the basis of the accounting set out in the previous Code of Practice on 
Transport Infrastructure Assets, a small number of changes have been set out to clarify accounting for particular items.

The key challenge for local authorities is around the accuracy and completeness of supporting records for HNA inventory and condition at 
1 April 2016 and effective arrangements for recording expenditure and other movements on HNA from that date.

UPDATE: On 14 November CIPFA/LASAAC announced a deferral of the move to measuring the Highways Network Asset at 
Depreciated Replacement Cost in local authority financial statements for 2016/17. This is due to delays in obtaining updated central rates 
for GRC valuations.  CIPFA/LASAAC will issue an Update to the 2016/17 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom to confirm this decision once it has completed the full due process. We will share updates with management as further details 
are issued by CIPFA.

P
age 64

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

13© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Accounting and audit issues

Flexible use of capital receipts

DCLG has issued a Direction and Statutory Guidance on the flexible use of capital receipts to fund the revenue costs of reform projects. 
The direction applies from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2019. 

The Direction sets out that expenditure which 'is incurred by the Authorities that is designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the 
delivery of public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs and/or transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs 
or demand for services in future years for any of the public sector delivery partners' can be treated as capital expenditure.

Capital receipts can only be used from the disposals received in the years in which the flexibility is offered rather than those received in 
previous years. 

Authorities must have regard to the Statutory Guidance when applying the Direction.

P
age 65

A
ppendix A



Grant Thornton 
Publications and 
events

P
age 66

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

15© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Website Relaunch

We have recently launched our new-look website.  

Our new homepage has been optimised for 

viewing across mobile devices, reflecting the 

increasing trend for how people choose to access 

information online. We wanted to make it easier 

to learn about us and the services we offer.

You can access the page using the link below –
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/public-

sector/

P
age 67

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

16© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Better Together: 
Building a successful joint venture company

Local government is evolving as it 

looks for ways to protect front-line 

services. These changes are picking 

up pace as more councils introduce 

alternative delivery models to 

generate additional income and 

savings.

'Better together' is the next report in our series looking at 

alternative delivery models and focuses on the key areas 

to consider when deciding to set up a joint venture (JV), 

setting it up and making it successful. 

JVs have been in use for many years in local government 

and remain a common means of delivering services 

differently. This report draws on our research across a 

range of JVs to provide inspiring ideas from those that 

have been a success and the lessons learnt from those 

that have encountered challenges. 

Key findings from the report:

• JVs continue to be a viable option – Where they have 

been successful they have supported councils to 

improve service delivery, reduce costs, bring 

investment and expertise and generate income

• There is reason to be cautious – Our research found a 

number of JVs between public and private bodies had 

mixed success in achieving outcomes for councils

• There is a new breed of JVs between public sector 

bodies – These JVs can be more successful at working 

and staying together. There are an increasing number 

being set up between councils and wholly-owned 

commercial subsidiaries that can provide both the 

commercialism required and the understanding of the 

public sector culture.

Our report, Better Together: Building a successful joint 

venture company, can be downloaded from our website: 

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/build

ing-a-successful-joint-venture-company/

P
age 68

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

17© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Advancing closure: 
the benefits to local authorities

With new regulation bringing forward 

the required publishing date for 

accounts local authorities must 

consider the areas needed to 

accelerate financial reporting.

In February 2015, regulations were laid before parliament 

confirming proposals to bring forward the date by which 

local authority accounts must be published in England. 

From 2017-18, authorities will need to publish their 

audited financial statements by 31 July, with Wales 

seeking to follow a similar approach over the next few 

years.

Many local government bodies are already experiencing 

the benefits of advancing their financial reporting 

processes and preparing their accounts early, including:

• raising the profile of the finance function within the 

organisation and transforming its role from a back office 

function to a key enabler of change and improvement 

across the organisation;

• high quality financial statements as a result of improved 

quality assurance arrangements;

• greater certainty over  in-year monitoring arrangements and 

financial outturn position for the year, supporting members 

to make more informed financial decisions for the future;

• improved financial controls and accounting systems, 

resulting from more efficient and refined financial 

processes; and

• allowing finance officers more time to focus on forward 

looking medium term financial planning and 

transformational projects, to address future financial 

challenges.

• While there is no standard set of actions to achieve faster 

close there are a number of consistent key factors across the 

organisations successfully delivering accelerated closedown 

of their accounts, which our report explores in further 

details:

• Enabling sustainable change requires committed leadership 

underpinned by a culture for success

• Efficient and effective systems and processes are essential

• Auditors and other external parties need to be on board and 

kept informed throughout

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en
/insights/advancing-closure-the-
benefits-to-local-authorities/

P
age 69

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

18© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

AppendixP
age 70

A
ppendix A



Audit and Governance Committee progress report and  update – Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

19© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Appendix 1: Grant Report

We anticipate we will provide the Council with an u nqualified certification report

DRAFT

Lee Colyer
Head of Finance and Corporate Governance
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Town Hall
Royal Tunbridge Wells
Kent
TN1 1RS

November 2016

Dear Lee

Certification work for Tunbridge Wells Borough Coun cil for year ended 31 March 
2016
As you are aware, we are required to certify certain claims and returns submitted by the 
Council. Certification arrangements are prescribed by the Audit Commission, which agrees 
the scope of the work with each relevant government department or agency, and issues 
auditors with a Certification Instruction (CI) for each specific claim or return. The Audit 
Commission arrangements require us to report the outcome of certification work.

We certified one claim for the financial year 2015/16 relating to expenditure of £35.6 million 
(£35.2 million 2014/15).

We found the Council had put in place adequate arrangements to compile and complete, 
accurate and timely claims for audit certification. 
The indicative scale fee set by the Audit Commission for the Council for 2015/16 is £12,144. 
We are not proposing to make any changes to the indicative scale fee (see appendix).
Yours sincerely

For Grant Thornton UK LLP

Claim or return 2014/15 

indicati

ve fee 

(£)

2014/15 

actual 

fee (£)

Variance 

(£)

Explanation for variances

Housing benefits 

subsidy claim 

(BEN01)

12,144 12,144 0 n/a

Total 12,144 12,144 0

Appendix 

Fees for 2015/16 certification work

P
age 71

A
ppendix A



GRT102468

P
age 72

A
ppendix A



 

Audit & Governance 
Committee 

5 December 2016 

Is the final decision on the recommendation in this report to be made at this meeting? Yes 

 

Interim Audit & Assurance Report 2016/17 
 

Final Decision-Maker Audit & Governance Committee 

Portfolio Holder(s)  Cllr Barrington-King, Portfolio-holder for Finance 
and Governance 

Lead Director  Lee Colyer – Director of Finance & Corporate 
Services (s151 Officer) 

Head of Service Rich Clarke – Head of Audit Partnership 

Lead Officer/Report Author Rich Clarke – Head of Audit Partnership 

Classification Non-Exempt 

Wards affected All 

  

This report makes the following recommendation to the final decision-maker: 
 

1. The Committee notes and comments as appropriate on progress against the internal 
audit plan and findings to date. 

 

  

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives: 

 A Prosperous Borough 

 A Green Borough 

 A Confident Borough 

 

This report is concerned with the internal control and governance of the Council.  
Successful controls and effective governance are a crucial underpinning for all corporate 
priorities. 

  

Timetable  

Meeting Date 

Audit & Governance Committee 5 December 2016 

Page 73

Agenda Item 6(D)



 

Interim Audit & Assurance Report 2016/17 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The report provides an update to the Committee on work conducted by Mid 

Kent Audit in pursuance of the audit plan agreed by this Committee in March 
2016.  It also provides commentary on the broader objectives of the service in 
helping to ensure good governance at the Council. 

 

 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Internal audit has a statutory basis as a service through the Accounts & Audit 

Regulations 2015.  Its principal objective is to examine and evaluate the 
effectiveness of the Council’s systems of internal control, risk management and 
corporate governance.  

 
2.2 This report provides evidence to the Committee in discharging its constitutional 

responsibilities for overseeing and commenting upon governance at the 
Council. 

 
2.3 The report provides an interim position at approximately the mid-year point. A 

full annual report, including the Head of Audit Opinion, will come to this 
Committee in June 2017.  

 

3. AVAILABLE OPTIONS 
 
3.1 The report is presented for information and discussion rather than decision. 
 
 

 
4. PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
4.1 The report is presented for information and discussion rather than decision. 
 

 
5 CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 
 
5.1 The individual outcomes in this report arise from the detail of audit work, each of 

which was agreed after discussion with officers at the time reports were 
finalised.  The report also reflects previous Committee feedback about the style 
and content of our summary reports in seeking to provide a broad range of 
information on the progress of the service. 

 

Page 74

Agenda Item 6(D)



 

 
6 CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1 This report is provided for information rather than decision and consequently 
raises no new issues and implications.  Any and all comments from members 
will be considered for future reports and, where applicable, within individual 
audit projects through the rest of the year. 

 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

(name of officer 
and date) 

Legal including 
Human Rights Act 

Not applicable, see comment above Rich Clarke 

 

Head of Audit 
Partnership 

 

23 November 
2016 

Finance and other 
resources 

 

Staffing 
establishment 

 

Risk management    

Environment  
and sustainability 

 

Community safety  

Health and Safety  

Health and 
wellbeing 

 

Equalities  

 
7 REPORT APPENDICES 
 
The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report: 

 Appendix A: Interim Audit & Assurance Report 2016/17 
 

 
8 BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
None 
 

Page 75

Agenda Item 6(D)



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

MID KENT AUDIT 
 

 

Interim Internal Audit & 
Assurance Report 

 

November 2016 
 

Tunbridge Wells 
Borough Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 77

Appendix A



2 

 

Introduction 

1. Internal audit is an objective and independent assurance and consulting service 

designed to enhance and protect the Council’s values and priorities.  It helps the 

Council by bringing a systematic and disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 

effectiveness of risk management, control and governance. 

2. Regulation 5 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 shows that authorities must 

keep an internal audit service.  That service must “evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 

management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 

internal auditing standards or guidance”. 

3. We base our work on the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards [the Standards].  

These stem from, and extend, the Institute of Internal Audit’s Global Standards, Code 

of Ethics and International Professional Practices Framework. This means internal 

audit at the Council conforms to the same demands present across similar services 

throughout the world in public, private and voluntary organisations. 

4. The Standards demand an annual opinion from the Chief Audit Executive (the Head of 

Audit Partnership fulfils this role at the Council).  The Opinion considers internal 

control, corporate governance and risk management. It is a key part of the overall 

assurance Members and Officers of the Council draw on when evaluating governance.  

The diagram below1 shows internal audit’s position alongside other sources of 

assurance: 

 

5. This report updates Members on progress and findings so far as we complete the 

Audit Plan approved by this Committee in March 2016.  

                                                 
1
 Taken from the Institute of Internal Audit’s Professional Practices Framework.  Like all IIA publications 

intended for a global audience, it uses US spelling. 

Page 78

Appendix A

http://www.cipfa.org/~/media/files/publications/standards/public%20sector%20internal%20audit%20standards.pdf


3 

 

Internal Control 

6. Internal control is how the Council ensures achievement of its objectives. In particular, 

internal control achieves and displays effectiveness and efficiency, reliable financial 

reporting and compliance with law, rules and policies.  It incorporates both financial 

and non-financial aspects. 

7. We gather evidence to support this part of the Opinion principally through completing 

the reviews set out in our audit plan.  Besides considering the findings of each review 

individually we must assess whether there are any overall messages we need to report 

to Members and Senior Management. 

Audit Plan Progress 

8. The table below shows progress in days delivered against the plans 

Type of work Plan Days To Oct 16 To Oct % Forecast Y/E Forecast % 

Assurance Projects 260 140 54% 293 112% 

Concluding 15/16 0 28 n/a 28 n/a 

Other Work 115 54 47% 120 104% 

Total (excl 15/16) 375 194 52% 413 110% 

Page 79

Appendix A



4 

 

Audit Review Findings so far 

9. The table below summarises audit project findings and outturn up to the date of this report.  Where there are material matters finished 

between report issue and committee meeting we will provide a verbal update.  (* = days split between partners, TWBC only shown). 

 
Review Type Title 

Plan 
Days 

16/17 
Days 

Report 
Issue 

Assurance 
Rating 

Notes 

2015/16 Assurance Projects Completed After 1 April 2016 

 Finance Accounts Payable 10 1 Apr-16 STRONG Reported to Members Jun-16 

 Operational Temporary Accommodation (B&B) 15 3 Apr-16 SOUND Reported to Members Jun-16 

 Operational ICT Network Controls 5* 1* Apr-16 STRONG Reported to Members Jun-16 

 Operational Development Programme 15 2 May-16 SOUND Reported to Members Jun-16 

 Governance Members’ Allowances 12 3 Jun-16 SOUND Reported to Members Jun-16 

I Governance Good Governance Framework 5* 4* Jul-16 n/a  

II Operational Health & Safety 15 15 Jul-16 SOUND  

Planned 2016/17 Assurance Projects Completed to Date 

III Operational Licensing 15 20 Aug-16 SOUND  

IV Operational Social Media & Communications 15 22 Sep-16 SOUND  

V Finance Housing Benefits 11* 10* Oct-16 SOUND  

VI Operational Complaints Management 15 19 Sep-16 SOUND  

VII Governance Safeguarding 18 18 Nov-16 WEAK  

VIII Operational Grounds Maintenance 15 14 Nov-16 SOUND  

Planned 2016/17 Assurance Projects In Progress 

 Operational Discretionary Housing Payments 8* 5*   Fieldwork stage 

 Operational Parking Enforcement 15 6   Fieldwork stage 

 Governance Business Continuity 15 5   Fieldwork stage 

 Operational Building Control Income 
 
 

15 1   Planning stage 

P
age 80

A
ppendix A



5 

 

 
Review Type Title 

Plan 
Days 

16/17 
Days 

Report 
Issue 

Assurance 
Rating 

Notes 

Planned 2016/17 Assurance Projects Yet To Begin 

 Finance Bank/Treasury 10   

 Finance General Ledger Journals 15   

 Finance Accounts Receivable 15   

 Finance Payroll 15   

 Governance Freedom of Information 15   

 Governance ICT Controls & Access 7*   

 Governance Corporate Governance 10   

 Operational Property Management 15   

 Operational Community Safety 15   

Planned 2016/17 Assurance Projects Postponed or Cancelled 

 Operational ICT Procurement 15 1 Likely to be postponed until 2017/18 to allow for 
recruitment of new Head of ICT and restructure within 
the service 

 Operational Land Charges 6*  Postponed to 2017/18 to avoid overlap with review of 
planning support scheduled in early 2017 

P
age 81

A
ppendix A



6 

 

I: Good Governance Framework Review 

10. Our review against the Framework confirms all 4 Councils are on course to meet each 

of its 7 principles before preparing their 2016/17 Governance Statements.  We also 

identified several notable examples of good governance at each Council. 

11. However, some steps would further help each Council to bring their existing 

governance approaches up-to-date or raise their profile.  One example is to consider 

the currency of corporate policies and update or recirculate where needed.  

12. During the review, we identified the following areas of notable practices at each 

Council: 

Notable practice Areas for improvement 

ABC  
- Clear and financed approach for 

addressing fraud and corruption 

- Review of medium term financial plans 

- Good succession planning and officer 

development 

ABC 
- Limited benchmarking at corporate level 

- Broadening scope of risk management 

across the Council 

MBC 
- Well managed transition to Committee 

governance in 2015/16 

- Information governance approach 

MBC:  
- Counter fraud policies and approach 

- Limited benchmarking at corporate level 

- Setting in risk management into decision 

making and defining risk appetite 

SBC 
- Collaborative working with external 

groups and youth forum 

- Risk and performance management 

- Actively seeks benchmarking, peer 

review and external accreditation for 

continuing corporate learning 

SBC 
- Counter fraud policies and approach 

- Increasing Member training attendance 

TWBC 
- Good external links 

- Member skills gap analysis 

- Project management approach 

TWBC: 
- Counter fraud policies and approach 

- Service planning and operational risk 

management 

 

13. Before preparing the 2016/17 Governance Statement, each Council should consider a 

more detailed self-assessment against the Framework’s key principles. 

  

Page 82

Appendix A



7 

 

II: Health & Safety 

14. We conclude based on our audit work that the Health and Safety function has Sound 

controls in place to manage its risks and support its objectives.  

15. The Council appointed a new Health and Safety Adviser in September 2015. Since this 

time, considerable work has been undertaken to assess the health and safety 

arrangements at the Council and re-engineer the service to meet the operational (such 

as service planning and risk assessments) and legal requirements.  

16. Our work programme for this review was based on the basic health and safety 

standard INDG 449 and the relevant obligations it places on organisations to have 

robust health and safety arrangements in place. Our testing included site visits to the 

Crematorium, Gateway, North Farm Depot, Town Hall and the Assembly Hall Theatre.  

17. We acknowledge the progress being made by the Council to implement and embed 

improvements since September 2015. As a result of our compliance testing, we are 

satisfied that the arrangements in place are robust and comply with the requirements 

of the health and safety INDG 449. 

III: Licensing (Compliance and Enforcement) 

18. We conclude based on our audit work that the Licensing service has Sound controls in 

place to carry out the compliance and enforcement of licences. 

19. We found that the Council has a sound approach to compliance and enforcement, 

from the policies it has in place through to the undertaking of compliance visits. The 

Licensing service has a programme of compliance visits and is currently exceeding the 

annual target of 180 visits per annum. Through observation and testing, we found that 

compliance visits followed a consistent approach in accordance with the Council’s 

policies and procedures. 

  

Page 83

Appendix A



8 

 

IV: Social Media 

20. We conclude based on our audit work that there are Sound controls in place over the 

management and use of the Council’s social media accounts. 

21. The Council’s Social Media Guidelines provide both corporate policy and advice for 

effective use of social media. We concentrated our review on the Council’s Twitter and 

Facebook accounts. We found that officers managing accounts on behalf of the 

Council materially comply with the guidelines even though they have not been 

publicised since initial circulation in March 2015. Although in general we found 

appropriate controls, the Council should consider improving how it manages password 

controls to minimise risks of unauthorised access, hacking and vandalism. 

V: Housing Benefit 

22. We conclude based on our audit work that Housing Benefit has Sound controls in 

place to manage its risks and support its objectives. 

23. Our previous review of the Housing Benefit system in May 2015 found effective 

controls in operation. Since then the Council has made only minor updates and so 

design remains robust. Our testing in this review identified those controls also remain 

effectively operated. 

24. One area of more significant change is allowing claimants to present more information 

online. We are satisfied design and operation of controls for online submission is 

effective. 

25. We identified some areas for the service to improve, including clarifying the appeals 

process and in transferring claimants onto Universal Credit. 

VI: Complaints Management 

26. We conclude based on our audit work that there are Sound controls in place to 

administer and manage corporate complaints. 

27. The Council’s Complaints Procedure meets the standard set out in the Local 

Government Ombudsman’s Guidance on running a complaints system. We found in 

our testing that officers materially comply with the Procedure. We found suitable 

arrangements in place to monitor and report performance. We also identified 

opportunities for the Council to improve its communications with the complainant in 

providing updates and processing information. 

  

Page 84

Appendix A



9 

 

VII: Safeguarding 

28. We conclude based on our audit work that the controls to ensure the Council meets its 

safeguarding duties offer only Weak assurance. This means the service needs support 

to perform effectively and consistently but, importantly, recognises we have found no 

evidence of the Council causing or contributing to harm suffered by its residents.  

Given the Council’s role, there are limits to the risk of residents coming to harm 

directly because of its actions, but the Council could be doing more to recognise and 

report safeguarding incidents consistently and effectively.   

29. The Council describes its approach in the recently changed, though incomplete, 

Safeguarding Policy.  The Policy revision intended to coincide with the transfer of 

Safeguarding policy to the Head of Partnerships & Engagement but there has been no 

formal handover until conclusion of this review. 

30. We identified weaknesses in the Council’s safeguarding arrangements, principally 

across training, recruitment and recording and reporting referrals.  On training, the 

Council has not undertaken a systematic review of training need below manager level.  

While it has planned and delivered some training, with some further training planned 

for key officers, take-up of the online training module intended for all staff is low (less 

than 5%). 

31. On recruitment, while we identified the Council sometimes considers safeguarding 

issues it is ad hoc rather than part of a standard procedure.  We found inconsistencies 

especially within practices for seeking and dealing with Disclosure and Barring Service 

(DBS) checks. 

32. Lastly, on referrals, we found a small number compared with neighbouring authorities 

though cannot say for certain this represents under-reporting.  In any event, the 

Council’s failure to keep a central log of referrals and report key issues identified to 

management means it risks failing to identify and properly address safeguarding issues 

in its service delivery. 

33. Please see the following section on recommendations for information on the high 

priority findings, management’s response, and proposed timescales to implement 

corrective action. 

  

Page 85

Appendix A



10 

 

VIII: Grounds Maintenance 

34. We conclude based on our audit work that Contract Services has Sound controls in 

place to monitor the Grounds Maintenance contract and contract payments.   

35. We have established that Contract Services has clearly defined roles and sufficient 

resources to monitor the Grounds Maintenance contract. We found that officers have 

access to the current contract and contract specification and that they demonstrate a 

good understanding of the contract and the key areas that require monitoring. 

36. The monitoring being undertaken by officers is helping to ensure that the contractor is 

performing to a satisfactory standard. However, we have identified some 

inconsistency in the recording of monitoring visits which means that it is difficult to 

evidence that monitoring visits are being completed in accordance with management 

expectations. 

37. Variations to the contract and notices relating to contractor performance are issued in 

accordance with the contract and are appropriately authorised. Similarly we found the 

contractual payments made are correct, authorised and in accordance with the 

contract. 

  

Page 86

Appendix A



11 

 

Audit Recommendations 

38. Our approach to recommendations means at the end of each report we agree with 

management an action in response and a date for implementation.  We then follow up 

recommendations individually when they fall due, compiling results together each 

quarter in a report to Senior Management. 

39. Where we originally reported a Weak assurance rating, we also revisit this rating each 

quarter. Note that we have issued no Poor assurance rating reports at the Council. We 

consider whether management has made enough progress through fulfilling 

recommendations to resolve concerns behind the adverse assurance rating.  When we 

believe management have made enough progress to materially minimise the risk, we 

alter our assurance rating to Sound. However we continue following up outstanding 

recommendations until completed. 

40. During this period we have issued one report at weak assurance rating, on 

Safeguarding.  This included one high priority recommendation, detailed below: 

R1: DBS Policy Priority 2: High 

Introduce a DBS policy to set out how DBS checks should be completed and how 

frequently DBS checks should be repeated. 

The introduction of a DBS policy will provide greater clarity and consistency to the process. 

Management Response 

Recommendation accepted.  

Policy will be completed with Human Resources.  

Policy will then be signed off and circulated.  

It is intended that a small working group will be set up to look at the full list of 

recommendations set out in this report. 

Responsible officer: 

Adam Chalmers/Nicky Carter 

Implementation date:  

1 February 2017 

 

41. We have highlighted this as the most notable matter arising from our weak assurance 

rated report.  The table below summarises all recommendations raised in this period.  

We raised no critical rated recommendations. We are pleased to note all 

recommendations raised by audit were accepted by management and we will track 

their implementation as they fall due. 

Page 87

Appendix A



12 

 

Project and assurance rating High Med Low Advisory Implementation 
Period 

Health & Safety So 0 1 2 0 Jul 16 – Apr 17 

Licensing So 0 0 2 1 Aug-16 

Social Media So 0 1 6 0 Dec 16 – Apr 17 

Housing Benefits So 0 3 1 0 Oct – Nov 16 

Complaints Management So 0 0 3 1 Nov 16 – Mar 17 

Safeguarding Wk 1 9 2 1 Jan – Sep 17 

Grounds Maintenance So 0 1 0 0 Dec 16 

Totals 1 15 16 3  

 

42. Our most recent reporting considered recommendations due before 1 October 2016.  

So, the table below does not include progress on and of the Safeguarding 

recommendations above, but these will form part of future follow up exercises.  The 

table below summarises progress. 

Project and original 

assurance rating 

(W/So/Str) 

Agreed 

Actions  

Falling due 

before 

1/10/16 

Actions 

Completed 

Outstanding 

Actions past 

due date 

Actions 

Not Yet 

Due 

Projects with actions completed during 2016/17 

Licensing So 2 2 2 0 0 

Declarations Interest Wk 6 6 6 0 0 

Temporary Housing So 2 2 2 0 0 

Development Prog So 3 3 3 0 0 

Corporate Projects So 5 5 5 0 0 

ICT Networks Str 1 1 1 0 0 

Projects with actions to carry forward into the rest of 2016/17 and beyond 

Complaints Mgmt So 3 0 0 0 3 

Data Protection Wk 4 2 2 0 2 

Members’ Allowances So 3 2 2 0 1 

Recruitment So 3 2 2 0 1 

Health & Safety So 3 2 2 0 1 

TOTAL 35 27 27 0 8 

  77% 77% 0% 23% 

 

43. Note the table above excludes reviews which did not feature recommendations for 

action (such as the Good Governance review).  The table also excludes reviews issued 

before this report but where no recommendations were due before quarter 2 

2016/17 (such as Safeguarding). 

Page 88

Appendix A



13 

 

44. The set of reviews we are following-up through the first half of 2016/17 includes two 

we assessed as providing only Weak assurance.  The table below describes progress 

to date in each area: 

 

Review Final Report 
Issued 

Commentary 

Members’ & Officers’ 

Declarations of 

Interest 

May 2015 Note that the portion of controls relating to 

Officers only was assessed as Weak (not the 

controls around Member declarations). 

Following implementation of the remaining 

recommendations we reassessed assurance rating 

to Sound in July 2016. 

Data Protection October 2015 There has been good progress on 

recommendations to date, including enhancing 

the training offer, implementing and circulating 

updated policies and procedures and establishing 

regular monitoring and review of breaches within 

a strengthened Senior Information Risk Owner 

role. 

Although some lower priority recommendations 

remain (including establishing a policy on data 

retention and completing roll out of training), we 

were satisfied of sufficient progress to reassess 

the assurance rating to Sound in November 2016. 

 

  

Page 89

Appendix A



14 

 

Corporate Governance 

45. Corporate governance is the system of rules and practices that direct and control the 

Council.   

46. We gain audit evidence to support the Head of Audit Opinion through completion of 

relevant reviews in the audit plan, as well as specific roles on key project and 

management groups.  We also consider matters brought to our attention by Members 

or staff through whistleblowing and the Council’s counter fraud and corruption 

arrangements.  

47. We attend the Council’s Information Governance group. We also comment on other 

decisions and papers according to the Council’s governance practices. 

48. During the year we also undertook a specific review examining the Council’s position 

for compliance with the new Code of Corporate Governance published by 

CIPFA/SOLACE in April 2016.  We report the main conclusions of that review earlier in 

this report. 

Counter Fraud & Corruption 

49. We consider fraud and corruption risks in all of our regular audit projects as well as 

undertaking direct work to assess and support the Council’s arrangements.  

50. The Cabinet Office is preparing a set of Counter Fraud Standards similar to the Public 

Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  Unlike the PSIAS, these standards will not be 

compulsory in local government. However they will represent a significant signal of 

‘best practice’ for counter fraud arrangements in the broader public sector. 

51. Once published, we will review the Counter Fraud Standards and use them as part of 

an exercise to refresh the breadth of the Council’s counter fraud policies. These 

include the overall Counter Fraud Strategy, plus approaches to tackling bribery, 

corruption and money laundering.  We expect to bring those policies to this 

Committee as a set sometime in the new year, dependent on the timing of the Cabinet 

Office publishing its standards. 

  

Page 90

Appendix A



15 

 

Investigations 

52. We have received no referrals for investigation in the first half of 2016/17. 

Whistle-blowing 

53. Internal audit is one route for members of staff and others to raise concerns under the 

Council’s whistleblowing policy.  We received no matters arising under this policy in 

the first half of 2016/17. 

54. In addition to the policies mentioned previously, we will also look to revise and refresh 

the Council’s whistleblowing policy and approach in keeping with Cabinet Office 

standards and emerging best practice. 

National Fraud Initiative 

55. The National Fraud Initiative (NFI) is a compulsory national exercise that matches 

electronic data within and between public and private sector bodies to prevent and 

detect fraud.  Previously, the Audit Commission ran NFI but, following its abolition, 

responsibility passed to the Cabinet Office. 

56. The NFI works on a two-year cycle which involves the release of matches (most 

recently in January 2015) for local authorities and others to look into.  Each match 

represents a finding which could, potentially, point to a fraud or error but needs 

further investigation to confirm.  The table below shows progress so far on matches 

from the 2015 release. 

Dataset Matches Complete In 
Progress 

% 
Examined 

Creditors 565 0 0 0% 

Housing Benefit Claimants 777 697 0 90% 

Insurance Claimants 2 0 0 0% 

Payroll 116 26 26 22% 

Council Tax SPD 1,885 819 0 43% 

Total 3,345 1,542 26 46% 

 

  

Page 91

Appendix A



16 

 

57. We have already reviewed all ‘high priority’ matches identified by the Cabinet Office 

(those viewed, from their experience, as being particularly likely to identify fraud or 

error).  The remaining matches are lower priority but we will still examine them with 

the aim of completing the exercise before release of new data. 

58. From review of the 1,542 matches completed so far we have identified 1 case 

identified as fraud, resulting in the recovery in full of £122.  

59. We also found 60 cases of error with a total value of £29,322. This is an average of 

£488 per error, or a return of £19 for every individual match examined. 

60. The Cabinet Office plan to release the next set of matches in January 2017 and we are 

co-ordinating the Council’s approach to collecting and uploading data.  This work 

includes ensuring the Council publishes proper fair use notices so it can lawfully 

upload personal data.   

61. In November 2016 the Cabinet Office published its NFI National Report.  The report 

summarises findings from the exercise across the UK and includes data submitted by 

the Council.  The national picture it describes, across the areas relevant to the Council, 

we summarise in the table below: 

Dataset Example match # 
Outcomes 

£ 
Recovered 

Creditors Trader submits duplicate invoice 3,448 £4.5m 

HB Claimants Failing to declare a change of circumstance 6,606 £39.2m 

Payroll Working while claiming sickness 109 £5.0m 

Council Tax SPD Failure to qualify as living with other adults 37,825 £37.4m 

Total  47,988 £86.1m 

 

  

Page 92

Appendix A

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/565216/nfi_national_report_2016.pdf


17 

 

Risk Management 

62. Risk management is the process of identifying, quantifying and managing the risks that 

the Council faces in seeking to achieve its objectives. 

63. This Committee has had regular updates through 2016/17 on the Council’s strategic 

risks, including inviting risk owners to the meeting for detailed information and 

enquiry.  We set out the Council’s current risks on their assessment below. 

 

64. During 2017 we plan to work with the Council’s policy team to extend and refresh the 

risk approach in particular to identify and assess operational, service and project risk.  

In addition, we will also review the current set of strategic risks for their continued 

utility.  We will provide further updates to Members on the progress of that work in 

our year end reporting in June 2017. 

  

Page 93

Appendix A



18 

 

Mid Kent Audit Service Update 

Team Update 

65. In the first half of 2016/17 we bade farewell to one of our trainee auditors who left 

the partnership to change career into healthcare.  However, following a full 

recruitment exercise drawing 37 applications we appointed Louise Taylor, previously 

our team administrator, to the Trainee position.  Louise originally joined the team as 

part time administrator in November 2015 and has integrated well and shown great 

enthusiasm for continuing her career in audit. She will now work full-time as a trainee, 

beginning professional qualifications with the Institute of Internal Audit. 

66. As a result, the Team Administrator role has fallen vacant.  Previously we could not 

join in the Council’s apprentice scheme as none of the roles covered audit 

responsibilities; however we can shape our administrator role to meet the scheme.  

Shahbaz Rehman joined us as an apprentice this month and will be working with the 

team for the next year while gaining qualifications through Mid Kent College. 

Quality Assurance and Improvement 

67. We continue to develop our Quality and Improvement Plan including, for 2016/17 a 

revision and refresh to our audit manual.  See appendix A for an extract, summarising 

our audit approach. Our manual and approach is now on a par, or even ahead of, 

leading practice in the public sector. Leading on from this, CIPFA invited the Head of 

Audit Partnership to prepare and present national training to around 50 other local 

authority audit services on Insights into Internal Audit Professional Standards. 

68. We have also kept ahead of changes to Audit Standards through the role the Head of 

Audit Partnership has as Local Government Representative on the Internal Audit 

Standards Advisory Board (IASAB). The IASAB is the body that recommends changes 

applicable across the UK public sector.  The forthcoming changes to Standards include 

those consulted by the Global Institute for Internal Audit in autumn 2016.  Although 

the revisions will not apply in the public sector until 1 April 2017 (subject to 

consultation and agreement with devolved governments) we already show 

conformance.  This includes with Standards 1320 and 2060 which the IIA has adapted 

to extend and clarify matters for reporting to Members. 

  

Page 94

Appendix A



19 

 

Standard 1320: Reporting on the Quality Assurance and Improvement Plan 

Reporting Requirement Comments 

Scope and frequency of internal 

and external assessments 

We gained an external quality assessment considering 

conformance across the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards in April 2015.  We will seek another before 

April 2020. 

We undertake a full internal assessment against the 

Standards each year. 

Conclusions of assessors The IIA decided we fully conform with standards.  Our 

self-assessments since conclude we have upheld 

conformance. 

Corrective action plans Not applicable. 

Qualifications and 

independence of assessors 

The IIA team all held suitable professional qualifications 

and experience.  They were also fully independent of the 

audit service and the authorities. 

 

Standard 2060: Reporting To The Board 

Reporting Requirement Comments 

The Audit Charter Reported in March 2016.  We will consider the need for a 

revision as part of our 2017/18 planning in March 2017. 

Independence of 

internal audit 

We can confirm the continued utility of independence 

safeguards described in the Charter.  The internal audit service 

works independently and reports free from any inappropriate 

pressure or influence from management. 

Audit Plan and Progress Reported earlier in this document. 

Resource requirements Reported in our 2016/17 plan in March 2016.  We continue to 

receive strong support from the authorities who provide 

sufficient resources to complete plans agreed by Members. 

Results of audit Reported earlier in this document. 

Conformance with the 

Standards 

As above, we work in full conformance with the Standards. 

Risks accepted by 

management that may 

be unacceptable to the 

Council 

We are aware of no risks currently accepted by management 

that we feel would be unacceptable to Members.  See the 

section in this report on Risk Management for information on 

the significant risks recognised by management and proposed 

and active mitigations. 

 

Page 95

Appendix A



20 

 

Performance 

69. Aside from progress against our audit plan we report on several specific performance 

measures designed to oversee the quality of audit service we deliver to partner 

authorities.  The Audit Partnership Board (with Lee Colyer, Director of Finance & 

Corporate Services representing Tunbridge Wells) considers these measures at each 

quarterly meeting.  Our performance also features in reports presented to the MKS 

Board (which includes the Council’s Chief Executive and Leader). 

70. The table below shows our most recent outturn on these performance measures.  

Note that data is for performance across the partnership rather than council specific 

(but there are no significant variations from authority to authority). 

Measure 2015/16 

Outturn 

2016/17 

Target 

Q2 16/17 

Outturn 

Cost per audit day On target n/a 5% ahead 

of target 

% projects completed within budgeted days 60% 75% 75% 

% of chargeable days  63% 70% 74% 

Full PSIAS conformance  56/56 56/56 56/56 

Audit projects completed within deadlines  76% 80% 88% 

% draft reports within ten days of fieldwork end  68% 80% 81% 

Satisfaction with assurance (score /4) 3.2 3.4 3.7 

Final reports presented within 5 days of closing 92% 90% 93% 

Satisfaction with auditor conduct (score /4) 3.5 3.75 3.86 

Recommendations implemented as agreed 98% 95% 89% 

Exam success 100% 75% 75% 

Satisfaction with auditor skill (score /4) 3.2 3.4 3.7 

 

71. We continue on a positive trend for performance across the measures, meeting all but 

one target in Quarter 2.  Notably, this continues the strong upward performance in 

completing projects to budget (from 18% in 2013/14, rising to 47% in 2014/15 and 

now at 75%) and to agreed deadlines (up from 41% in 2014/15 to 88% now).  We have 

achieved this result while keeping costs below target per audit day, enhancing audit 

quality and improving satisfaction scores measured through our post-audit surveys. 

72. As always, we could not have achieved this performance without the dedicated expert 

support of the entire audit team, and the management of Mid Kent Audit offer 

profound thanks for their skill and hard work.  We also thank the Members and 

Officers who continue to inform, support and guide our work. 

Page 96

Appendix A



21 

 

 

Page 97

Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17 

 

 

REPORT TITLE 5/12/16 4/4/17 27/06/17 25/07/17 

Audit and Governance Committee 
Annual Report 
 

  X  

Internal Audit Annual Report 
 

  X  

Internal Audit Operation Plan 
 

 X   

Internal Audit Interim Report  
 

X    

Annual Revision of Audit Charter 
 

 X   

Annual Audit Letter 
 

X    

Certification of Grant  Claims and 
Returns 
 

X    

External Audit Plan 
 

 X   

External Audit Progress Report 
 

X    

Planned Audit Fee 
 

  X  

Draft Financial Report  2016/17 
(Statement of Accounts) 
 

  X  

Financial Report and Audit Findings 
2016/17 
 

   X 

Annual Complaints Report and Local 
Government Ombudsman Annual 
Review 
 

    

Update on Member Complaints 
 

X X X  

Strategic Risk Review (incorporating 
Annual Risk Management Summary 
in June) 
  

 X  X 

Attendance of Strategic Risk Owners 
 

X X X  

Public Sector External Audit 
Appointment 
 

X    

Policy Framework Revision 
  

X    

Page 99

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting
	5(A) Update on Complaints Received Under the Members' Code of Conduct
	6(A) Strategic Risk Report
	Item 6(A) - Strategic Risk Register update - Appendix A

	6(B) Annual Audit Report
	Item 6(B) - Annual audit letter - Appendix A - Audit letter from Grant Thornton

	6(C) External Audit Progress Report
	Item 6(C) - External audit progress report - Appendix A - Grant Thornton report

	6(D) Interim Internal Audit and Assurance Report
	Item 6(D) - Interim internal audit and assurance report 2016-17 - Appendix A report

	7 Future Work Programme

